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PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC is a gold producer, traded on London’s Alternative
Investment Market (AIM) and focused on the mining industry in Russia.

PETER HAMBRO MINING owns the Pokrovskiy operating gold mine; the Pioneer and
Tokur deposits, both at advanced exploration stage; and a substantial portfolio of
other exploration assets, most of which are located in the Amur Region, Russian Far
East. In addition the Group has stakes in a number of joint ventures: Omchak, in the
Magadan Region, with two operating gold mines; Rudnoye, in the Amur Region;
Region, a greenfield joint venture in Buryatia; and Chagoyansk, the Group has  
signed a Letter of Understanding with Rio Tinto.

Russian word endings sometimes cause confusion in place names. For this reason we have used
Pokrovskiy as a description. This term includes Pokrovka, Pokrovskoye and Pokrovskiy.
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Operating and financial highlights

➢ Retained profit more than doubled to US$10.4m

➢ Pokrovskiy 2003 production forecast exceeded and at a Gold Institute Standard (GIS) 
cash cost of US$105/oz

➢ Attributable Group production more than doubled to 148,789 ounces

➢ Peter Hambro Mining playing a key role in the consolidation of the Russian gold mining industry

➢ Total Russian Category C&P Reserves and Resources now exceed 55 million ounces

➢ Five year goal: 1 million ounce per annum production from Pokrovskiy and Pioneer mines

➢ In view of the importance attributed by the Board to the Reserves and Resources increase,
the Board has decided to commission an independent review thereof

2002 20032001

80,000

69,900

2004

204,000
(forecast)

148,789

Omchak
joint venture

Pioneer

Pokrovskiy 
Rudnik

Summary financial highlights
(Group and share of joint ventures)

Attributable Group
gold production (ounces)

2002 20032001

4.4

5.1

10.4

Retained profit (US$m)

2002 20032001

54.3

22.7
23.7

Revenue (US$m)

US$ ’000 2003 2002

Turnover 54,260 22,774
Operating profit 13,795 10,462
Profit before tax 16,257 9,435
Profit after tax 10,987 8,796
Retained profit 10,383 5,104



PETER HAMBRO MINING at a glance
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PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC

* Rio Tinto may earn-in to the 
 Chagoyansk Deposit through 
 the funding of  exploration

Simplified Group Structure 15 April 2004
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Deposit at development/exploration stageMine

Pokrovskiy Deposit
Identified in the Soviet era, the Group has developed this from
‘greenfield’ to production, with excellent infrastructure. Mill
expansion in 2004 is planned to treat 1.5 million tonnes of ore
per annum. Recent exploration indicates the potential to
increase production profile to 500,000 ounces per annum.
Current reserves/resources estimate for the deposit and its
flanks is 9.44 million ounces.

Pioneer Deposit
Synergistically located less than 40 km from Pokrovskiy,
Pioneer is planned for 100,000 tonnes of trial mining in 2004
with ore treated at Pokrovskiy. Reserve and Resources
estimates of 10+ million ounces indicate a possible 5 million
tonnes per annum mill will be needed.

Tokur Deposit
Acquired in 2003 with resources of approximately 8 million
ounces. Tokur, mined since 1939 from extensive underground
workings, is located approximately 450 km from Pokrovskiy
but has good independent infrastructure. In the summer of
2003 the Group acquired exploration licences increasing total
Resources to more than 27 million ounces.

Map of Amur Region showing Group assets
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June
The Company completed the acquisition of
the Tokur Deposit. Located in the Amur
Region of Russia and, based on preliminary
estimates, contained about 8.1 million ounces
of Reserves and Resources (Category C & P).
The total consideration payable equates to
below US$4/oz.
(See exploration and development section.)

June
The Group refinanced its long term borrowing
facilities at a significantly reduced rate,
replacing a US$15 million loan facility drawn
down from Sberbank at c.22% p.a., for a Dollar
denominated loan of US$16 million at 8% p.a.
arranged by Moscow International Bank.

July
The Company launched its sponsored ADR
programme through the Bank of New York,
the largest depositary of ADR’s in the US
financial markets.

The Company signed the ‘Omchak’
joint venture.

August
The Company entered into the Rudnoye joint
venture with Soloviovskiy Rudnik, one of the
oldest gold producers in the Amur Region.

Consummation of Omchak joint venture.

September
The Company issued interim results for the 
six months ended 30 June 2003. The Group
announced that it had won the tender and
received licences for the Voroshilovskoye deposit
and the Malomir Surround, with over 3 million
ounces of resources.

December
The Company completed and announced
its planned sale of titanium assets to a newly
formed company Aricom Plc, thereby
maintaining its gold focus.

Our year in review 2003

January
PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC signed
confidentiality agreement with Rio Tinto
on exchanging geological and other data
to enable it to evaluate the potential of
developing gold mining projects in Russia.
(See March 2004 announcement.)

February
PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC signed Heads
of Agreement in relation to the establishment
of the Omchak joint venture, comprising cash
and certain producing Magadan gold mining
assets. The parties to the Heads of Agreement
included OJSC Susuman Mining Complex,
one of the biggest gold producers in Russia.
The aim behind the proposed joint venture is
to expand the Company’s activities into a new
area of Russia.

March
The Company announced a substantial
increase in Reserves and Resources at its
advanced exploration stage project – the
Pioneer deposit. The Company received
independent confirmation of the Group
Chief Geologist’s revised estimation of
9.4 million ounces of Reserves and Resources.

April
The Company raised approximately UK£16.8
million before expenses for the purposes of
further acquisitions, through an institutional
placing, above the market price, which was at
that time the largest placing by an AIM gold
mining company.

May
The Company released its Annual Report
and Accounts for the financial year ending
31 December 2002 stating an increase in
retained profits for the year of 16%.
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Dear Shareholder,
We set ourselves an ambitious, but realistic, target of 120,000
ounces for gold production from Pokrovskiy in 2003 and achieved
it, despite teething problems with the new resin-in-pulp mill and
truly awful rainstorms in the summer. Omchak’s contribution of
an additional 28,148 attributable ounces during five months
brought the Group total to 148,789 ounces.

Pavel Maslovsky, my Russian business partner and your
Deputy Chairman and, effectively, Chief Operating Officer,
gives more operational detail later in his report.

The market price for our shares moved sharply higher during
the year. The production results from our new mill and the
details of our successful exploration efforts, together with our
acquisition and joint venture programmes have caught the

attention of investors and your Company’s shares are close to
their all time high.

I am delighted that we have gained new shareholders from
North America and Europe and we will continue to explain
the advantages to be had from investing in our Russia-
orientated company.

The upward movement in the US$ price of gold has also helped
investors to identify gold and gold shares as a safe investment
haven in these turbulent times. US$ weakness is partially
responsible for gold’s apparently strong performance and this
weakness  has, as you might expect, been reflected in a not-quite-
so-good rise in the Rouble price of gold. Our Group’s expenses
are almost all Rouble denominated and any diminution in the
US$, the base currency in which gold is priced, has an adverse
effect on our Rouble operating costs. I expect gold to continue 
to perform well, particularly in US$ terms.

In Russia, President Putin’s re-election and the pro-business
government that he has appointed augurs well for companies
like ours. Our relationships with the local and federal
administrations are strong and I am proud that Pavel
Maslovsky has been awarded the ‘Medal for Services to the
Motherland’ and that Sergei Ermolenko has been appointed
an ‘Honoured Metallurgist of the Russian Federation’. These
two awards show the respect accorded to the Group in Russia.

I look forward to the rest of 2004 and the coming years with
enthusiasm. The 50% capacity upgrade to the mill should
allow us to treat ore at the rate of 1.5 million tonnes per
annum by the fourth quarter.

Our 2004 Group attributable production target is broken
down by Pokrovskiy c.144,000 ounces, Pioneer c.24,000
ounces and Omchak c.36,000 ounces.

We plan to take a decision on the size of the new mill to be
built at Pioneer during 2004. Five million tonnes per annum is
the most likely capacity and we intend to seek project finance
for this. Similarly, the increased resources at Pokrovskiy
indicate that we may need a further increase in capacity. With
these two capacity increases, a 1 million ounce per annum
production profile from Pioneer and Pokrovskiy is potentially
achievable within five years.

We have a proven team, and the cash and gold resources we
need to carry on our growth programmes in production,
exploration and acquisition.

Thank you very much for the confidence you have shown in us
by being an investor.

Peter Hambro 
Executive Chairman

Chairman’s statement Peter Hambro
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Share price performance (2003)

A production increase of 113% with Pokrovskiy GIS cash costs at US$105/oz is a remarkable
achievement in a year when the US$ price of gold  rose by US$74/oz. Investors have recognised
gold and the shares of gold producing companies as a safe haven in these turbulent times.

Peter Hambro
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Dear Shareholder,
GIS cash costs of US$105/oz for the full year are impressive
on any scale of operation, especially as in our case, in the early
part of the year, costs were affected by the mill’s bedding
down. Happily these costs have now stabilised at the levels 
we anticipated.

Operational efficiencies may increase if we can mine from
more than one source at a time. This will give us the possibility
of in-pit blending of ore and, thus, a uniform grade of ore
delivered to the mill; which will enable a more efficient use 
of reagents. For this reason we have been concentrating on
expanding the pit and increasing stripping. We are fortunate
to have the 0.8 million tonne stock-pile of ore previously
treated on the heap leach pads with which to supplement the

was consummated in August, Omchak has contributed more
than 28,000 ounces to the Group’s results. I believe that
collaboration with Mr Vladimir Khristov’s team will open up
other possibilities for us, particularly in underground mining.

Exploration has once again been a major activity and our
organic growth is assured by the confirmation of the Reserves
and Resources we have found at Pioneer and, latterly the
interesting increase in resources at Pokrovskiy. I think you 
will find the Exploration and Development report makes
exciting reading, showing the huge potential that exists within
the Company’s existing 55+ million ounce Reserve and
Resource base.

The global gold mining industry is going through a period 
of consolidation and your Company continues to play its 
part within the Russian context. Our acquisition of Tokur 
and successful tenders for the Malomir Surround and the
Voroshilovskoye deposit were all concluded during the year 
and we have continued the process with the acquisition of
Novogodnee Manteau since the year end.The purchase of
Tokur and the subsequent receipt of exploration licences on the
area has enlarged the Reserve and Resource base substantially.
This, together with Malomir Surround and Voroshilovskoye
gives us potential for a large regional operation.

Also since the year end we have been successful in the auction
for the Chagoyansk deposit and we are delighted that we have
begun practical work with our partners, Rio Tinto.

I share my friend Peter Hambro’s optimism for 2004 and the
coming years.

Pavel Maslovsky 
Deputy Chairman 

Deputy Chairman’s statement Pavel Maslovsky

Pavel Maslovsky
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Gold price and Rouble exchange rates

A good result for 2003 and a buoyant outlook for the future. Pokrovskiy production and cash costs
for 2003 were on target with Pokrovskiy Rudnik gold production over 120,000 ounces.
Exploration results show 55+ million ounces of Russian Category C & P Reserves and Resources.

mill feed during periods of high strip. I hope that you will
agree that the year’s profit of US$11.6 million after tax for
Pokrovskiy Rudnik is a satisfactory result.

At Pokrovskiy, your Company has taken a greenfield 
site and turned it into a profitable gold mine and, unusually,
has done so with minimal external assistance. Everything
from welding and engineering to baking and furniture
manufacturing is to a large extent done in-house. All credit
must be given to the team of specialists who were responsible
for this success. I firmly believe that this team is one of our
most important assets.

It is good to note that our Omchak joint venture with
Susumanzoloto and Shkolnoe has performed well. Since it 
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Operations report Pokrovskiy Rudnik

Sergei Ermolenko
General Director
Mr Ermolenko progressed from underground miner to
General Manager of a gold mine in the Russian Far East
over a 20 year period. He is General Manager of Pokrovskiy
Rudnik and as such is responsible for the smooth running 
of operations in the Amur Region.

Valery Alexeev 
Chief Engineer
Mr Alexeev is a qualified engineer and has worked in process
engineering in the gold and heavy metals industry, managing
design and construction of the Muruntau plant in Uzbekistan
and treatment plants in Russia. As Chief Engineer he brought
the Pokrovskiy mine and plant into production.

2003 was a highly satisfactory year for Pokrovskiy Rudnik, primarily as we saw a continued
increase in production and profitability during the year. The main achievement was a 74% 
increase in gold production from 2002 whilst keeping GIS cash costs to US$105/oz.

The open pit at Pokrovskiy Rudnik
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Operations report Pokrovskiy Rudnik continued

Units 2003 2002

MINING
Total material moved cubic m ’000 3,831 3,463
Economic ore tonnes ’000 1,053 1,375

Grade g/t 3.5 4.1
Gold content ounces ’000 116.9 177.1 

of which rich ore tonnes ’000 656 824 
Grade g/t 4.5 5.3 
Gold content ounces ’000 95.4 136.9 

PLANT
Milling t/day 3,552 2,011 
Ore from pit tonnes ’000 661 128 

Grade g/t 4.4 6.1 
Ore from stockpile tonnes ’000 202 23 

Grade g/t 3.6 3.5 
Total milled tonnes ’000 863 150 

Grade g/t 4.2 5.7 
Gold content ounces ’000 117 27 
Recovery % 90.9 92.4 

Gold produced ounces ’000 106 25 

HEAP LEACH
Stacking t/day 3,909 4,219
Ore stacked tonnes ’000 503 696 

Grade g/t 2.1 5.2 
Gold content ounces ’000 34 113 
Recovery % 44.8 40.2 

Gold produced ounces ’000 15 45

TOTAL RECOVERED GOLD
ounces ’000 121 70

2002 2003

3,463

2001

1,862

3,831

2002 2003

1,375

2001

782

1,053

2002 2003

150

2001

0

863

2002 2003

69.9

2001

87.9

121.3

Production figures for Pokrovskiy Rudnik

As a result of the collective efforts of the Company’s staff in
2003, we achieved a stable and positive production dynamic.
This is reflected in a considerable increase in operating profit
as compared with previous years.

The key elements of successful work in 2003 were:

Production
➢ Successful full commissioning of new plant

➢ New crusher and concentrator pushed production capacity over 
1 million tonnes per annum

➢ Introduction of resin sorption ion-exchange process for heap leach
production has improved recovery and reduced cost

Mining
➢ Amalgamation of the 3 original pits creating efficiency gains 

and a 10% reduction of mining costs

➢ Ore blending and selective processing of ore via plant 
or heap leach has increased productivity and profit

O
perations

report

Total material moved
(cubic m ’000)

Ore mined
(tonnes ’000)

Ore processed by RIP
plant(tonnes ’000)

Gold production
(ounce ’000)
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Operations report Pokrovskiy Rudnik continued

Operational costs – Gold Institute Standard (GIS)
Russian reported operational costs at Pokrovskiy Rudnik have
remained at US$136/oz whilst production has increased 
by 74%. In order to facilitate reporting and analysis of the
Company’s operations, we have recalculated our operating and
non-operating costs in accordance with the Revised Production
Costs Standard which was implemented by the Gold Institute
in November 1999. The table below outlines the key
constituents of Cash and non-Cash costs at Pokrovskiy.

Administration summary
Within the programme of improving the living conditions 
in the mine township, two blocks of 16 apartments for
management and chief specialists were built and brought
into use in 2003.

We continue to employ an optimisation study on operations.
The results of the study have played a role in the increase in
production during the year and the economies of scale seen
in keeping costs constant.

Production increase
Pokrovskiy Rudnik
All teething problems concerning the start-up period of the
new gold extraction plant were resolved. The plant reached
design output of 1 million tonnes/annum in May 2003.

The completion of construction and the commissioning of
the primary ore crusher and second concentrator, in the third
quarter, have allowed an increase in production from the
gold extraction plant to 1.1 million tonnes/annum (92,000
tonnes/month).

Optimisation of blending of ore from stockpiles with
ore from the mine, and processing of rich ore through the
plant with simultaneous heap-leaching of low-grade ore,
has allowed an increase in productivity from the deposit
and maximisation of profit.

In November 2003 we began the implementation of our plan
to increase mining and processing capacity. By September
2004, we are planning to have increased our mining capacity
to 6.5 million cubic metres per annum, and to increase ore
processing in the plant to 1.5 million tonnes/year. The key 
to unlocking this extra capacity is the construction of an
additional circuit for the mill. Work to date on this project 
is progressing well and we believe that it will be completed 
as scheduled.

Taking into consideration that all the main infrastructure
elements at the mine have already been built, the increase
in mining and processing capacity should allow a reduction
in gold mining costs and an increase in profitability.

Pioneer
Geological exploration carried out in 2003 has further
convinced us that Pioneer is a large and very prospective
deposit. In parallel with continuation of geological exploration
on the deposit, we plan to carry out substantial preliminary
development on the deposit during 2004. As well as hoping
to make progress on pre-stripping the Apophysis 1 ore body,
we plan to mine and process (through the Pokrovskiy Rudnik
plant) at least 100,000 tonnes of high grade ore from Pioneer
before the end of 2004.

Andrei Luschei has been promoted within our team as Deputy
General Manager, to be responsible for the Pokrovskiy mine.

Sergei Egorovitch Ermolenko
General Director

2003
US$/oz

Per Russian Operating Costs Reporting
Pokrovskiy Operating Cost 136.0

Per GIS for Reporting Production Costs
Direct Mining Expenses* 80.3
Third-party smelting, refining and transportation costs 3.7
By-product credits (0.3)
Other 20.8
Cash Operating Costs 104.5

Royalties 22.1
Production taxes 5.0
Total Cash Costs 131.6

Non-cash movement in stock 7.6
Depreciation/Amortisation 35.8
Total Production Costs 175.0

* including processing costs

Pokrovskiy Rudnik – Operating Cost Analysis

The RIP Plant at Pokrovskiy Rudnik
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Omchak
In July 2003, the Group acquired a 50% share in a company
owning two producing operations with an existing 80,000+
ounces per annum production. Peter Hambro Mining plc
launched, together with the Russian companies Susumanzoloto
and Shkolnoye, ‘Omchak Gold Mining Company’, becoming a
co-owner of Nelkobazoloto and Berelekh Mining Company,
producing gold in the Magadan region. The Magadan region,
like the Amur Region, has been an extremely prolific precious
metals province, with production of over 80 million ounces of
gold from alluvial and hard-rock mines since the 1930s.

Thanks to its long mining legacy, the Magadan region’s
infrastructure is well established. Extensive all weather roads
link the mining operations to local towns and there is both
electricity and coal from local suppliers. The electricity is
mainly generated from the upper Kolyma River hydro-electric

station and the coal, mined near Susuman town, fires heating
boilers. Both the operations within the Omchak joint venture
are now well established and benefit from competent and
experienced management teams.

ZAO Nelkobazoloto, founded in 1996, exploits the Shkolnoye
high-grade vein gold deposit 400km north-west of Magadan.
Gold occurs within a series of quartz veins and stockworks,
within a granitic intrusive complex. It is produced by
underground mining (shrinkage open stoping), and a 
recovery rate of 88-91% is achieved by gravity concentration.
Concentrates are sent to the Kolyma refinery, 70km 
from Magadan, which produces gold bullion for the
international market.

OAO Berelekh Mining Company is mining alluvial gold near
the town of Susuman, about 650km from Magadan. It holds
52 mineral extraction licences, on alluvial deposits along the
Berelekh river, a tributary of the Kolyma river (along which
lie many of the major alluvial gold operations of the
Magadan region). Mining of the placer gold is seasonal, from
May to October. The gold-bearing sands are washed (simple
gravity separation) to produce a concentrate which is sent
directly to the Kolyma refinery. Average gold production from
this operation over the past three years has been steady at an
average of c.60,000 ounces per annum.

Operations report Omchak joint venture

Units 2003 2002

Nelkobazoloto-Shkolnoye Deposit
Material moved tonnes ’000 42,459 40,500
Ore processed tonnes ’000 56,622 35,560
Ounces produced ounces ’000 36.6 20.3
Berelekh
Material moved/Stripped tonnes ’000 9,547 9,675
Sands processed tonnes ’000 3,589 3,733
Ounces produced ounces ’000 59.9 62.4 
Total
Material processed tonnes ’000 60,211 39,293
Ounces produced ounces ’000 96.5 82.7 

Peter Hambro Mining’s share of production is 50% of the gold produced 
in the five months following August 2003

Attributable to
Omchak Peter Hambro

joint venture Mining

Nelkobazoloto-Shkolnoye Deposit 39,438 19,719
Berelekh 16,857 8,429
Total 56,295 28,148

The above table showing the full year 2003 results of the operations that
from August formed part of the Omchak joint venture. Peter Hambro
Mining's stake being 50% of production from August = 24,000 ounces.

Omchak joint venture Operations Full Year Reports

Berelekh Plant (Omchak joint venture)

Shkolnoye Plant (Omchak joint venture)

High grade gold concentrate from the Omchak joint venture



PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 200310

B+C1

C2

P1

P2

P3

Reserves

C
on

fid
en

ce
 L

ev
el

Resources

Exploration and development report 

Nicolai Vlasov 
Group Chief Geologist
Mr Vlasov was in charge of the State Mission that evaluated
gold resources in the Russian Far East. He is Group Chief
Geologist is responsible for exploration and grade control 
at Pokrovskiy Rudnik operations and general development/
exploration.

Ore Gold Content 
as at 1.1.04 as at 1.1.04 as at 1.1.04 as at 1.1.03

(‘000 t) (kg) (‘000 oz) (‘000 oz)

Group Summary
C1 28,737 69,468 2,233 1,575
C2 52,407 95,050 3,056 2,375
P1 69,739 137,387 4,417 777
P2 310,400 660,429 21,233 7,671
P3 271,195 769,050 24,726 –
Total* 732,478 1,731,384 55,665 12,397

* Where data is aggregated as 2 classifications (e.g. C1 & C2), for this summary
we have reported the total as the lower of the two (i.e. C2).

* This Group total does not include Reserves and Resources from the Omchak 
joint venture

Summary table of Reserves and Resources

2003 saw considerable further expansion of the Group’s exploration
programme, with particular achievements including:

➢ Delineation of new ore shoots extending the Pokrovskiy Deposit

➢ Identification of targets around the flanks of the Pokrovskiy Deposit,
adding a total of approximately 7 million ounces to reported resources

➢ New exploration on 6 ore zones at Pioneer

➢ At the Tokur deposit, confirmation of a predicted gold-bearing
mineralisation zone of the Glavniy Fault for 2km. Total C & P Reserves
and Resources 27+ million ounces

➢ Micromine database for Pokrovskiy Rudnik is complete; the Pokrovskiy
Rudnik 3D model is now almost completed

Nicolai Gavrilovitch Vlasov
Group Chief Geologist

Chart demonstrating the balance of
the Group’s Reserves and Resources
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In 2003, attention was concentrated on exploration around 
the flanks of the known ore deposits being mined at
Pokrovskiy Rudnik.

On the Molodezhnoye ore body (Pokrovka-III) to the north-
east of the open-pit at Pokrovka, the drilling grid density
was increased to 20 m x 20 m. 126 holes were drilled with a
total length of 4,913.5 m, of which 4,505.0 m was sampled:
2,850 samples were taken and analysed. This additional
drilling allowed a great improvement in the delineation 
of the ore body, and in particular identified 4 richer sub-
parallel ore shoots of 25-60 m width. 3 ore shoots were
traced for a further 120-230 m beyond the boundary 
of the planned open pit.

Further detailed exploration was carried out adjacent to the
Glavnoye and Molodezhnoye ore bodies. Altogether on these
two ore bodies, 43 vertical cored holes were drilled, with a
total length of 1,944.9 m. 1,610.0 m of this length was
sampled, with 1,124 samples being taken for analysis.

As a result of the 2003 season’s drilling the gold reserves 
of the Molodezhnoye ore body have been increased by
approximately 16,000 ounces. Adjacent to the Glavnoye ore
body, a large but low-grade (0.8-2.4 g/t) ore zone has been
identified, extending at least 250 m and possibly 400-500 m
beyond the open-pit boundary.

There is now a large database of 16,521 assays from drillhole
and trench samples. An independent geochemical modelling
exercise used these to establish resource potential and to
delineate targets for detailed exploration in an area of
37 km2 around the Pokrovskiy deposit, see map below. The
geochemical model provided evidence for a newly identified
resource potential of 5.6 million ounces in 4 areas: Verkhne-
Sergeevskiy (2-4 km to the north), Nadvigoviy (2 km south-
west), Vodorazdelniy (4 km north-east) and on the western
flank of Pokrovka-I. The total resource potential identified 
in the study was 7.14 million ounces. An innovative modelling
technique was used, the usefulness of which was confirmed
by close comparison with conventional resource estimates 
in several areas where these already exist.

Exploration and development report Pokrovskiy Rudnik

Area Category Ore Gold Content
(B, C or P) (‘000 t) (kg) (‘000 oz)

Pokrovskiy deposit
Conditioned ore reserves C1 9,275 36,489 1,173 

C2 619 2,080 67
Low-grade reserves C1 10,602 10,504 338 
Stockpiles, conditioned ore C1 2,831 8,039 258 
Stockpiles, low-grade ore C1 2,181 1,849 59 
Total for Pokrovskiy deposit 25,508 58,961 1,896 
Flanks of the Pokrovskiy 
deposit C2+C1 15,250 17,376 559 

P1 30,422 29,868 960 
P2 62,500 187,500 6,028 

Total for the flanks 108,172 234,744 7,547 
Total for Pokrovskiy 133,680 293,705 9,443

Pokrovskiy Rudnik table of Reserves and Resources
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General
Exploration drilling and sample analysis during 2003 has
increased our knowledge of Reserves and Resources at Pioneer
but, more importantly, has also improved the resource profile.
As at the end of the year, Category C reserves had increased 
to 2.23 million ounces and Category P resources to 8.04
million ounces. Additionally, as a result of extensive drilling
and trenching, over 300,000 ounces were able to be upgraded
from P2 to P1 and a large number of samples are still awaiting
assay and input into reserve/resource calculation.

Exploration was hampered by exceptionally high rainfall and
a substantial backlog in sampling has built up. The problem
is caused by the prioritisation of operations sampling to
maximise production and we are dealing with these bottle-
necks both by increasing the size of the laboratory facilities
on site and by building and equipping a new central
laboratory in Blagoveshenk as well as using a subcontractor.

Apophysis 1 (Bakhmut Area) – Area 1 on map.
Exploration works (on a 40-60 by 40-80 m grid) involved 
16 inclined drill-holes and 1 trench but full analyses have 
so far only been obtained on samples from 7 drill holes 
and 1 trench.

Based on the results of analyses on 200 m of Apophysis 1
(out of 1,020 m of prognostic length), and including the area
where Apophysis 1 joins the Bakhmut zone, it now seems
that 6 ore bodies can be defined, with lengths of 65 to 260 m,
all of which are open at depth. Most of the ore bodies
contain enriched ore columns with length of 20-40 m with
average grades from 5 g/t up to 22 g/t.

Reserves in Russian category C2 can be currently calculated
only down to the depths of between 80 to 200 m. Ore bodies
located below these levels are either not sufficiently explored
or crossed only by single drill holes (to a depth of 380 m)
which means they cannot be included in Category C2. The
final definition of these ore zones needs the opening of an
experimental pit, which is planned for 2004.

Evaluation of total Reserves and Resources of C2 + P1
categories on 200 m of the Apophysis 1 zone comes to
762,000 ounces of gold with an average grade of 13.2 g/t,
however only 60% of these reserves are at the confidence 
level of C1 + C2 Categories.

Yuzhnaya – Area 2 on map.
Exploration for new ore bodies was carried out with 2 drill
holes at the bend in the northern part of the Yuzhnaya zone.
From available analyses of 1 hole, 5 ore intersections are
defined (from top to bottom): 2.3 g/t over 7.0 m, 1.7 g/t over
5.1 m, 2.5 g/t over 10.7 m, 2.5 g/t over 30.7 m, and 3.3 g/t
over 15.1 m. Thus the intensity of mineralisation appears 
to be increasing with depth.

To trace this ore body northwards, 3 trenches and 14 drill
holes were provided, as this ore structure coincided with 
the previously forecasted Apophysis No. 3. From a limited
number of analyses received (5%) of scattered samples the
gold grade is up to 20 g/t.

Exploration and development report Pioneer Deposit

Status at 25.02.03 Status at 01.01.04
Ore Gold Ore Gold

Area Category (t’000) (oz’000) (t’000) (oz’000)

Yuzhnaya C2 12,300 555 13,600 616
P1+P2 38,990 1,334 36,300 1,284

Promezhutochnaya C2 8,400 384 8,400 384
P1+P2 4,100 188 4,100 188

Bakhmut C2 8,213 683 8,213 683
P1 9,990 280 9,990 280

Apophysis No.1 C2 278 634 154 425
(200m section P1 – – 159 338
with adjacent en
echelon structures)
Total in main ore body 82,271 4,058 80,916 4,198
Apophysis No.1
(900m extension) P2 – 1,355 – 1,355
Geofizicgeskaya P1 – – 815 40

P2 – 441 – 402
Apophysis No. 2 P2 – 197 – 197
Apophysis No. 3 C2 – – 295 69

P1 – 328 144 34
P2 – – – 566

Apophysis No. 4 P2 – 167 – 167
Apophysis No. 5 P2 – 54 – 54
Apophysis No. 6 P2 – 184 – 185
Apophysis No. 7 P2 – 41 – 41
Kulisnaya No. 1 P2 – 101 – 101
Kulisnaya No. 2 P2 – 122 – 122
Zvezdochka P2 – 540 – 540
Zapadnaya C2 – – 319 57

P1 – – 319 57
P2 – 213 – 99

Listvennichnaya P2 – 245 – 245
Berezovaya P1 – – 1,349 91

P2 – 284 – 192
Sosnovaya P2 – 741 – 741
Tsentrainaya P2 – 98 – 98
Andreevskaya P1 – – 4,600 149

P2 – 344 – 248
Bakhmut P2 – 231 – 231
(eastern extension)
Total on flanks – 5,685 – 6,078
Total in Pioneer – 9,742 – 10,277

Pioneer table of Reserves and Resources
➢ Exploration work providing further evidence for previous predictions

➢ Category C Reserves over 2 million ounces

➢ Category P Resources over 8 million ounces
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Other exploration areas 
Apophysis No.3.
From the available (30%) analyses in this zone, gold grades
up to 43.0 g/t and silver up to 113 g/t were established. Part
of the ore zone 260 m in length was explored by a grid
sufficient to establish category C2 reserves.

With an average content of 7.3 g/t over a thickness of 2.2 m
the reserves are 69,285 ounces gold. On the basis of data
given in the previous section, it connects with the rich ore
body (described above) in the Yuzhnaya zone, thus extending
it by a further 500 m. Its total length is 2,500 m. Thus, with
extrapolation of the properties of the Apophysis over
its whole length and to depth from surface of 200 m
(mineralisation is not bounded at depth), the reserves should
increase significantly and a Category P2 resource could be
more than 600,000 ounces.

Geofizicheskaya ore zone
This was explored in 2 trenches and 5 drill holes. Full analyses
are available for just 1 hole, in which an ore interval with gold
grade 1.5 g/t over 4.9 m thickness was defined.

Berezovaya ore zone
This has been exposed in 2 trenches 1,500 m apart. From the
very few analyses available now, the gold grade varies from
0.8 g/t to 3.4 g/t, over a visible thickness of 5-10 m.

Zapadnaya ore zone
This has been explored in 4 trenches and 2 drill holes. From
available analyses (20%) an ore body with 5.5 g/t gold over
3.65 m thickness can be defined along a 340 m strike length.

Listvennichnaya ore zone
This has been exposed in 2 trenches and 3 lines of shallow
holes. From a few separate analyses the gold content in a
zone of patchy silicification is not higher than 1.0-1.6 g/t.

Andreevskaya ore zone
This has been traced in 4 profiles of shallow holes and has
been intersected in 3 deep drill holes. From available analyses
of 1 hole the gold grade is 1.0 g/t over a thickness of 9.0 m.

Work summary
During the last year the following work has been carried
out on the site:
• trenches – 100.3 m3

• deep drilling – 9,616.5 m (60 holes)

• shallow drilling – 4,574.5 m (1066 holes)
• core sampling – 11,018 samples
• channel sampling – 5,222 samples
• bulk (scraper) sampling – 271 samples
• sample analysis – 6,482 analyses

There are 10,029 samples still to be analysed. A laboratory 
in Ulan-Ude has been contracted, which laboratory has
previously carried out analyses for us.

Exploration and development report Pioneer Deposit continued
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Gold occurs at Tokur in quartz veins cutting Palaeozoic
slates and shales, within a thrust-sheet structure. There is
apparent secondary enrichment in the oxide zone. Although
now closed, Tokur has been mined extensively underground
to a depth of 400 m, and has produced 35 tonnes of gold.

Following exploration work and the acquisition of a number
of new licences we have increased total Reserves and
Resource to over 27 million ounces.

Preliminary planning of the exploration programme at
Tokur was completed, and exploration work started during
2003. The principal mineralisation at the old Tokur Mine
was associated with a silicified zone along a major thrust
fault, known as the Glavniy Fault.

Exploration concentrated on the confirmation of this zone
of mineralisation along the Glavniy Fault over a 2 km length,
and tracing the zone eastwards. An unbroken continuation
of the metasomatic silicification, of varying thickness (2.0 m-
22.5 m), was established, from surface geology, trenches,
and inclined drillholes. Assay data received so far shows 
gold grades in the mineralised zone varying between 0.7 g/t
and10.6 g/t. There is visible gold in many panned
concentrates from crushed samples.

Exploration and development report Tokur Deposit

2003 Highlights

➢ Exploration and development programme commenced
following acquisition in June 2003

➢ Work concentrated on Glavniy Fault where work
confirmed evidence of mineralised zone

➢ Grade assay sampling discovering good grades

➢ Total Reserves and Resources now 27+ million ounces

Faults

Known and proposed mineralised thrusts

Known gold-bearing quartz veins

Rock samples containing gold

Gold deposits
Innokentyevskoye (1); Tokur (2); Tarnakh (3)

Gold occurrences
Razvedochnoye (1); Nalednoye (2)

Gold placer deposits with productivity per 1km along valley:

More than 1000 kg

301-1000 kg

101-300 kg

less than 100 kg

Boundary of exploration work

The map above shows the geological structure and known mineralisation of the Tokur exploration area.
The Tokur mine itself is in the centre, adjacent to the Glavniy fault. Exploration during 2003 extended
along the fault to the east, in the area between the M.Karaurak and B.Karaurak rivers.
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N.G.Vlasov using materials from L.V.Eirish, G.V.Belyaeva, V.N.Lebedev, M.I.Altschuler, Yu.I.Gryanko, V.D.Melnikov
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Area Category Ore Gold Content
(B, C or P) (‘000 t) (kg) (‘000 oz)

Tokur deposit
Quartz-vein ore type B+C1 265 3,112 100

C2 25 707 23 
- in preserved 
pillars in the mine B+C1 149 1,786 57 
Glavniy Fault zone C1 3,434 7,689 247 

C2 5,360 9,635 310 
P1 14,922 43,530 1,400 

P2+P3 67,727 199,546 6,416 
Flanks of the deposit in identified 
mineralisation zones P1 14,664 46,550 1,497 

P2+P3 190,445 553,050 17,781 
Total for Tokur 296,991 865,605 27,830 

Tokur table of Reserves and Resources
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Malomir Surround
Malomir is a known gold deposit in the north-east of the
Amur Region – near Tokur. It is hosted by Palaeouncesoic
black shales, with a similar geological environment to the
vast Sukhoi Log deposit in the Irkutsk region. Apart from
gold, there is also potential for PGM mineralisation.

The Group has obtained an exploration licence on two areas
immediately adjacent to the known Malomir deposit, along
strike to the north-east and to the west. It is intended that
exploration by the Group will begin in 2004 with surface
geophysical and geochemical surveys over a 20 km2 area.

Voroshilovskoye 
Like Tokur, Voroshilovskoye is in the location of an earlier
gold mine, also in the north-east of the Amur Region. Gold
is associated with sulphides in meta-quartzite crush-zones
within a sequence of Palaeouncesoic slates and shales. Old
mine workings were both shallow open-pit and underground,
but did not exploit the whole of the known ore body. It is
intended that in 2004, surface geophysical and geochemical
surveys will be carried out, over a 25 km2 area to the north
and east of the known deposit. In the area of the deposit
itself, a series of exploration trenches will be dug.

Exploration and development report Tokur, Malomir Surround and
Voroshilovskoye Area
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Voroshilovskoye ore field
(Yu.N. Priputnev et al)

The map above shows the geology and known mineralisation of the Voroshilovskoye exploration area. Gold occurs 
within a vein swarm within the granitoid and adjacent sediments, and there is clear structural control by the thrusts.
Voroshilovskoye mine itself is located adjacent to a major thrust zone.

Area Category Ore Gold Content
(B, C or P) (‘000 t) (kg) (‘000 oz)

Voroshilovskoye Deposit C1+C2 34 832 27 
P2 2,300 23,000 739 
P3 30,300 91,000 2,926 

Malomir Surround P1 2,273 5,000 161 
P3 45,450 100,000 3,215 

Total for Voroshilovskoye 
and Malomir flanks 80,357 219,832 7,068 

Summary table of Reserves and Resources

View of Tokur village and plant with 4 stage gravitational plant

Office building at Tokur
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Omchak joint venture
The operations held in the Omchak joint venture are 
located within the Yana-Kolyma gold-bearing belt the 
largest metallogenic district in Northeast Asia. A large
number of placer and hard rock gold deposits, as well 
as occurrences of gold, antimony, tin and tungsten
mineralisation, characterise the belt. The Yana-Kolyma 
belt trends in a north-west direction extending for more 
than 1,000 km in length and 200 km in width.

ZAO Nelkobazoloto, founded in 1996, exploits the Shkolnoye
high-grade vein gold deposit 400 km north-west of Magadan.
Reserves of the deposit are explored from test pits, core
drilling and underground development sampling. The ore
bodies are steeply dipping quartz veins (20-200 m in length
and 0.1-0.5 m thickness) and stockwork zones. The veins are
generally of massive fine/medium grained crystalline quartz,
with pyrite and other sulphides, and irregularly distributed
free gold up to 8 mm grain size of average fineness 730.
The known vertical scale of commercial gold-quartz
mineralisation exceeds 800 m.

OAO Berelekh Mining Company holds 52 licences on alluvial
deposits mainly along the Berelekh river. Mining is seasonal,
from May to October. Gold is currently produced by surface
stripping, though reserves of higher grade but with thicker
overburden have been defined as suitable for underground
exploitation. The deposits are characterised by complex
morphology and irregular distribution of gold. Usually there
are irregular ribbons and streaks of higher grade material.
The extent of individual placer deposits ranges from hundreds
of metres to several kilometres. The gold-bearing layer is 0.4-
5.0 m thickness of sand, with overburden from 6-20 m thick.
Most of the gold is 1-4 mm in size, but nuggets up to
hundreds of grammes are also common. The largest nugget
was mined in 1988 and weighed 9,995 g. The average fineness
of gold in placers worked by OAO Berelekh is 884.

The main aim of Rudnoye’s activities is the acquisition 
of exploration licences, exploration, and mining works.
Rudnoye is currently in negotiations with a number of
enterprises that have mining licences. Odolgo, with more
than 30 tonnes of gold – resource category P was acquired 
in December 2003. We aim to develop Odolgo as quickly 
as possible into a small scale producing asset.

The map below shows the extent of alluvial operations
within the Amur Region. It is interesting to note that the
Rudnoye joint venture is at the centre of these and should
benefit from good access to further hard-rock mining
opportunities as they arise.

Rudnoye
Soloviovskiy Rudnik, our joint venture partner in Rudnoye,
is one of the oldest gold mining enterprises in the Amur
Region. In 2003 it was 135 years old and since 1994, it has
been an open joint stock company with 58.1% owned by
individuals and 41.9% owned by legal entities. Since its start,
the mine has produced approximately 4 million ounces of
gold from the deposit and by production the company is 
in second place in the Amur Region and 12th in Russia.

Having seen what the Group has achieved at Pokrovskiy
Rudnik, Soloviovskiy management approached us for 
help in developing some of the hard-rock desposits in 
their ‘infrastructure area’ – the area best serviced by their
infrastructure. On 5 August 2003, closed joint stock
company Rudnoye was created with the statutory capital 
of RuR2 million.

Exploration and development report Omchak and Rudnoye joint ventures

Ore Gold Gold
Area Category (’000 t) (kg) (’000 oz)

Nelkobazoloto – 
Shkolnoye Deposit C1 + C2 405 4,563 147 

P 4,563 1,800 58 
Berelekh
Open Pit C1 93,794 11,153 359 

C2 17 32 1 
Underground C1 53,349 3,708 119 

C2 26,088 6,843 220 

Total C 173,652 26,300 846 
P 4,563 1,800 58 

Total 178,215 28,100 903 

Omchak table of Reserves and Resources

Amur Region highlighting intensive placer workings

• Rudnoye joint venture

The above map shows the Amur Region. Areas where intensive placer
mining has been taking place are highlighted.
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Chagoyansk joint venture & Rio Tinto
In March 2004 the Group announced its success in the
auction of the Chagoyansk licence in the Amur Region,
Far East Russia.

Nicolai Vlasov, the Group Chief Geologist of Peter Hambro
Mining, believes that the geological environment of
Chagoyansk is similar to the ‘Carlin Trend’ group of deposits
in Nevada, US. A small polymetallic ore occurrence,
associated with silicification at the tectonic contact of
Cambrian limestone and Silurian sandstone was the primary
reason behind the licence application. Along this contact there
is a weathering crust in which shallow drilling undertaken
during the 1980’s encountered in 1 sample a gold grade of
124 g/t over a thickness of 4 m. Nicolai Vlasov believes that
Chagoyansk has the geological potential to host a major gold
deposit. Previous exploration activities at the Chagoyansk
property have focused almost exclusively on its base metal and
alluvial gold potential. The Group believes that hard-rock
source deposits for the alluvial gold may be situated within the
Chagoyansk area.

The Group also announced that it
has signed a Letter of Understanding
covering a joint venture agreement
in respect of Chagoyansk with Rio
Tinto. It is envisaged that, if the
necessary licence is issued and the
joint venture progresses as proposed,
Rio Tinto will finance the first US$1.5

million of exploration works which will entitle it to obtain a
51% stake in the proposed joint venture entity. Thereafter, it
is intended that Peter Hambro Mining and Rio Tinto will
either share project costs on a pro-rata basis, or Peter Hambro
Mining can elect not to contribute to further exploration costs
in which case Rio Tinto will finance the next US$3.5 million
of exploration expenditure, subject to encouraging results,
to increase its interest in the joint venture entity to 65%. In   

addition, it is intended that Peter Hambro Mining will receive
a staged success fee from Rio Tinto totalling US$3.5 million
in the event that a mine is commissioned.

Buryatia and Urals Exploration Work
The Group announced in April 2004 the acquisition of
interests in a greenfield site in the Northern Urals region 
and an exploration joint venture in Buryatia.

Peter Hambro Mining announced the acquisition by
Pokrovskiy Rudnik of 90% of the issued shares of
‘Yamalzoloto’, which holds the Novogodnee Manteau
licence. The consideration payable was RuR150 million
(approximately US$5 million).

The area covered by the Novogodnee Manteau licence 
is located in the Topugolskaya area, Yamalanenetsky
autonomous okrug. The licence area covers approximately 
70 km2. The mining licence area so far has estimated C2
reserves of approximately 418,000 ounces at an average grade
of 14.7 g/t, P1 resources of approximately 1.1 million ounces
and P2 resources of approximately 2.0 million ounces. The
deposit area is open in all directions. The licence area is only
800 m from the nearest railway and metalled road. The nearest
city is Salekhard which is 30 km from the licence area.
Salekhard is the regional capital of the district and benefits
from the revenue generated in the area from local oil and gas
projects. Salekhard also benefits from a highly developed
infrastructure.

Peter Hambro Mining also announced the recent establishment
of a joint venture company, OOO Region in which Pokrovskiy
Rudnik owns a 75% stake. The primary focus of the joint
venture is exploration in Buryatia. Our partners in the joint
venture are a team of Russian geologists with a successful
track record of finding development assets. Following
completion of the acquisition the Group intends to assess this
data and determine the most promising areas of exploration
works to be undertaken by the joint venture.

Exploration and development report Other projects

View of the heap leach pad spraying at Pokrovskiy Rudnik

View of the heap leach pad loading at Pokrovskiy Rudnik
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Health and safety
The health and safety of our employees is of the greatest
importance to the Group, not least because of the importance
it attributes to them as a Group asset. Ensuring their wellbeing
involves implementation of safety procedures, training, good
accommodation, catering and a health programme.

At Pokrovskiy, the Group’s operating mine, planning, design
and setting of workplace procedures are the starting points 
of the safety programme. These are aimed to comply not only
with the licence and legal regimes but also with international
best practice. Nine safety audits have been completed.

Training, which includes operational and legal requirements
as well as first-aid, starts immediately on employment and
continues on a specialist basis for individual tasks. The newly
completed accommodation blocks are of high quality and
popular with the workforce and the meals in the canteen are
much appreciated.

The mine’s medical centre has two doctors and a nurse on site
24 hours per day and all employees receive monthly health
checks as well as annual visits to the Amur regional hospital.

Environment
Successful mine and process operation requires a high degree
of social and environmental responsibility. The Group’s policy
is to try to achieve World Bank approved standards for this,
while ensuring compliance with Russian legal requirements.
A recent independent study found Pokrovskiy Rudnik in
compliance with World Bank Standards where appropriate.

As well as trying to operate in a way that minimises the
adverse environmental impact of its business, Pokrovskiy
Rudnik monitors air and water quality extensively. This
checking procedure is supplemented by work from two
independent institutes and inspectors from government 
and local agencies carry out regular and random spot 
checks to ensure compliance with Russian norms.

Environmental and social policy

The Group considers the safety of its employees and the minimisation of the impact of its
operation on the environment as key pillars in the Company’s ongoing success. To this end
it follows, where possible, the World Bank code of best practice in these fields.

Social
As well as environmental protection the Group needs to
interact successfully with its neighbours. As well as providing
employment, the Company tries to increase knowledge and
understanding of its activities among the local population.
To this end educational visits for school children and adults
are arranged and a regular dialogue is held with the elected
representatives.

New school facilities at Tygda were provided by the Group.
It is intended that this corporate social and environmental
ethos will be extended to the Group’s other mining assets,
for example Tokur and Voroshilovskoye, as they are brought
into production.

International
The Group believes that Russia and its business environment
is still poorly understood in the West and it has therefore
supported cultural and information programmes such as
Academia Rossica, Russian Economic Forum and the Russo-
British Chamber of Commerce.

View of Zeya river, taken from the road leading from Blagoveshensk to Pokrovskiy Rudnik
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Board of Directors

Peter Hambro Executive Chairman

Mr Hambro was a banker and then Deputy
Managing Director of Mocatta and Goldsmid,
responsible for worldwide marketing of its
precious metal dealing, banking and derivative
services. In 1990 he founded Peter Hambro
PLC as a mining finance house in London.

Dr Pavel Maslovsky Deputy Chairman

Dr Maslovsky, formerly professor of
plasticity at the Moscow Aircraft Technology
Institute, transferred in 1991 to the business
world and became chairman of Pokrovskiy
Rudnik in 1994.

Philip Leatham Finance Director
and Company Secretary
Mr Leatham, previously a Chartered
Accountant with Spicer and Pegler. He set up 
his own general accountancy practice in 1985
specialising in small businesses.

Jay Hambro Business
Development Director
Mr Hambro trained in resource finance at NM
Rothschild & Sons, based in both London and
the US and moved to the investment banking
division of HSBC as a Manager of Metals &
Mining corporate finance, before joining the
Group full time in early 2002.

Alexei Maslovsky Executive
Director and Treasurer
Mr Maslovsky holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Economics from the University
of Minnesota and is a Certified Retail
Gemologist and Diamond Grader. Alexei
subsequently worked for Worldco Financial
Services in New York.

Sir Rudolph Agnew
Non-Executive Director
Sir Rudolph was Group Chief Executive and
Chairman of Consolidated Gold Fields, the
second largest gold producer in the western
world in the 1980s. He has been also a director
of Anglo American, Gold Fields of South
Africa and Newmont Mining.

Peter Hill-Wood
Non-Executive Director
Mr Hill-Wood is Chairman of Arsenal
Football Club and an advisor to Top
Technology Ventures Ltd. He was formerly
vice-Chairman of Hambros Bank and
Chairman of its Investment Division.

F
inancial review
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Turnover
Group turnover increased by 92% compared with last year.
Gold and minor silver revenues accounted for all of the
Group’s turnover. Gold sales of the Group for the year rose by
68.8% and reached 120,641 ounces (2002 – 71,500 ounces). The
Omchak joint venture contributed US$10.6 million, 28,148
ounces, to the total revenue for the year.

The average sales price realised was US$363/oz (2002 – US$325).
It is not presently our policy to hedge the Dollar and Rouble
price of gold.

Results of operations
Profits after tax and minority interests for 2003 increased 
to US$10.4 million from last year’s US$5.1 million, which
represents earnings per share of US$0.18 (2002 – US$0.16).
This includes a significant contribution for the first time from
the new Omchak joint venture in Magadan which generated 
a profit of US$3.7 million in the second half of the year 
50% of which was added to the profit of the Group.

Currency movements
During the year the Rouble appreciated against the Dollar.
The exchange rates moved from RuR31.78 per US$1 at 
31 December 2002 to RuR29.45 at the year end. In any 
case, as most of our loans are now Dollar denominated the
movement between these two currencies has less effect on 
the Group than in the past. Exchange differences included 
in our profit figures amounted to a gain of US$22,756 
(2002 – gain US$1,008,393).

Taxation
The tax charge for the year increased as the concession that
exempted Pokrovskiy Rudnik from Russian profit tax came 
to an end in 2002. The total charge amounted to US$5,270,000
(2002 – US$639,000) which included deferred tax of
US$1,418,000 (2002 – nil).

Financial review Philip Leatham

Balance sheet
Total shareholders funds were US$115.6 million compared to
US$48 million in 2002, primarily due to new share issues to
fund acquisitions and retained earnings of US$10.3 million.

During the year the Directors carried out a review of the
carrying value of tangible assets, intangible assets and goodwill
as at 1 January 2003. As a result of this review the Directors
decided that the combined carrying value of these assets was
reasonable but that an alternative classification would be more
appropriate. Since the value of goodwill is entirely attributable
to Pokrovskiy Rudnik’s licence and the difference between 
the market values of certain tangible assets and their book
values can also be attributed to ownership of the licence, the
carrying value of the licence has been restated upwards with 
a corresponding reduction in goodwill and fixed assets.

Cash resources and borrowings
Our cash and bank balances increased from US$1.4 million at 
the end of 2002 to US$14.8 million at 31 December 2003. Our
Net Debt position declined from US$24.2 million at 1 January
2003 to US$18.5 million at the end of the current year.

Since the year end, Peter Hambro Mining plc has signed a
US$30 million term loan facility agreement with Bayerische
Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG. The facility is available for
general corporate purposes but is intended primarily for
the acquisition of Russian gold mining assets, a number of
which have been offered to the Group. Peter Hambro Mining
plc has drawn on this facility to fund the consideration for
certain completed transactions. It is interesting to note that
this is the Group’s first non-Russian and non-project
borrowing facility.

Philip Leatham 
Finance Director

Pro forma
Year to Year to Year to 

31 December 2003 31 December 2002 31 December 2001
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Turnover: Group and share of joint ventures 54,260 22,774 23,722
Group turnover 43,655 22,774 23,722
Operating profit 13,795 10,462 10,100
Pre tax profit 16,257 9,435 8,686
Profit retained for the year 10,383 5,104 4,403
Net cash inflow from operating activities 11,785 6,890 15,215
Net cash inflow 13,439 27 951

Philip Leatham, Finance Director
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The Directors’ Report

Directors
Peter C.P. Hambro – Appointed 20 December 2001
Dr Pavel A. Maslovsky – Appointed 20 December 2001
Sir Rudolph Agnew – Appointed 8 April 2002 
Philip W. Leatham FCA – Appointed 20 December 2001
G. Jay Hambro – Appointed 20 December 2001
Alexei P. Maslovsky – Appointed 20 December 2001
Peter Hill-Wood – Appointed 12 June 2003

Secretary and registered office
Philip W. Leatham FCA
11 Grosvenor Place
London SW1X 7HH

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Incorporation and basis of preparation of accounts
The Company was incorporated on 20 December 2001 under the name
Excelsior Corporation plc as part of a planned reorganisation of an
existing group headed by Peter Hambro Mining Limited. Subsequent 
to the formation of the Company, Peter Hambro Mining Limited was
renamed Eponymousco Ltd (‘Eponymousco’) and the Company was
renamed Peter Hambro Mining plc (‘PHM’). On 17 April 2002 
the Company acquired the whole of the issued share capital of
Eponymousco and on 29 April 2002 obtained admission to the
Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange (‘AIM’).

These events are considered to be a reorganisation of a continuing business.

Review of activities and future developments
The Group’s principal activities during the year were:
• the production of gold and the development of facilities 

at Pokrovskiy Rudnik;
• exploration and development of reserves at Pioneer;
• formation of the voint ventures Omchak and Rudnoye;
• evaluation of potential acquisitions and joint ventures 

in gold mining in Russia;
• demerger of the titanium business and disposals of Chemalt 

and Olekminskiy Rudnik.

The Directors report a consolidated profit for the period of US$10,383,000
(2002 – profit of US$5,104,000). No dividend has been recommended and
the profit for the period has been transferred to reserves.

Future developments are included in the letters of the Chairman 
and Deputy Chairman.

Directors’ interests
The Directors were appointed at the dates as shown above and were 
all serving at the year end. Their interest in the share capital of the
Company at the beginning and end of the period was as follows:

G. Jay Hambro, Alexei P. Maslovsky, Philip W. Leatham – no interest 
at 31 December 2003 or 31 December 2002.

Peter Hill-Wood – owned 0.02% of the Company or 20,000 ordinary
shares as at 31 December 2003 (2002 – none).

Sir Rudolph Agnew – owned 0.01% of the Company or 7,500 ordinary
shares as at 31 December 2003 (2002 – 0.02% of the Company or 7,500
ordinary shares).
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The Directors’ Report continued

Pavel A. Maslovsky – owned directly and beneficially 35.70% of the
Company or 22,844,524 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2003. At 
31 December 2002, Pavel A. Maslovsky owned directly and beneficially
48.65% of the Company or 23,344,524 ordinary shares.

Peter C.P. Hambro – owned beneficially 11.78% of the Company or
7,539,800 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2003. At 31 December 2002
Peter C.P. Hambro owned beneficially 16.75% of the Company or
8,039,800 ordinary shares.

In addition, the Directors’ interests in other classes of shares in
Eponymousco (a 100% subsidiary of the Company) were as follows:

‘C’ shares – (share incentive scheme) 31 Dec. 03 31 Dec. 02

Peter C.P. Hambro 349,684 349,684
Pavel A. Maslovsky 1,379,684 1,379,684
Philip W. Leatham 830,000 830,000

Substantial shareholders
The Directors have been notified of the following substantial
shareholders as at 31 December 2003.

Amount % of issued 
Name of shares share capital

Pavel A. Maslovsky and associates 22,844,524 35.7%
Peter C.P. Hambro and associates 7,539,800 11.8%
Nutraco Nominees Ltd 5,670,605 8.9%
Viscaria Investments Ltd* 5,499,071 8.6%
Morstan Nominees Ltd 4,928,741 7.7%
Littledown Nominees Ltd 2,564,546 4.0%
BNY (OCS) Nominees Ltd 2,060,220 3.2%

* Excluding shares held beneficially by Pavel A. Maslovsky
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The Directors’ Report continued
Corporate Governance

The Directors are aware of the Combined Code applicable to listed
companies. As a company which is quoted on AIM, the Company is not
required to comply with the Combined Code but all the Directors intend
to comply with its main provisions as far as is practicable having regard
to the size of the Group.

Board structure and its committees
The Board comprises five Executive Directors, including the Chairman
and Deputy Chairman, and two Non-Executive Directors. The Board
meets regularly throughout the year and as issues arise which require
board attention.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on page 19 of this annual report.

The Chairman conducts board and shareholder meetings and ensures
that all Directors are properly briefed. The Directors are responsible 
for formulating, reviewing and approving the Group’s strategy, budgets,
major items of capital expenditure and senior personnel appointments.
The Directors have access to independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense, and to the Company Secretary (who is also a
Director) and receive appropriate training where necessary.

There are transparent procedures for the appointment of new Directors 
to the Board in place and all Directors are required to retire by rotation 
at least every three years, when they can offer themselves for re-election 
if eligible. In view of the size of the Company, the Directors do not
consider the Combined Code recommendation to establish a Nomination
Committee appropriate at present. The Company has established Audit
and Remuneration Committees.

Audit Committee
An Audit Committee has been established and currently comprises 
Sir Rudolph Agnew, Peter Hill-Wood and G. Jay Hambro. It meets 
at least twice a year and is responsible for ensuring that the financial
performance of the Group is properly reported on and monitored.
It liaises with the auditors and reviews the reports from the auditors
relating to the accounts and internal control systems.

Remuneration Committee
A Remuneration Committee has been established and currently comprises
Sir Rudolph Agnew, Peter Hill-Wood and Pavel Maslovsky. It reviews the
performance of the Executive Directors and sets the scale and structure
of their remuneration on the basis of their service agreements with due
regard to the interests of the Shareholders and the performance of the
Group. The Remuneration Committee also make recommendations to 
the Board concerning employee incentives, including the allocation of
share issues to employees. Directors of the Group are not permitted to
participate in discussions or decisions of the committee concerning their
own remuneration.

Relations with shareholders
Communications with shareholders are considered important by the
Directors. The Executive Directors regularly speak to investors and
analysts during the year. Company circulars and press releases have 
also been issued throughout the year and since the balance sheet date 
in relation to various proposals and keeping investors informed about
the Group’s progress.

The Company also maintains a website on the internet
www.peterhambro.com which is regularly updated and contains 
a wide range of information about the Group.
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The Directors’ Report continued
Corporate Governance continued

Internal controls
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing and
maintaining the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. The procedures which include inter alia financial,
operational and compliance matters and risk management are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. The internal control system can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. The Board is actively considering the need for an internal audit
function given the current rapid expansion of the Group.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors are satisfied that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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The Directors’ Report continued

Remuneration
In addition to complying with the main provisions of the Combined
Code as far as is practicable having regard to the size of the Group, the
Company is committed to the Principles of Good Governance relating
to Directors’ remuneration.

Remuneration policy
The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the terms of
reference are detailed above. The remuneration policy is designed to
attract, motivate and retain directors with necessary skills and experience
to manage the Group’s operations.

Directors’ remuneration and interests in shares
Details of Directors’ interests in shares are set out on pages 22 and 23.

Remuneration packages of Executive Directors currently comprise basic
salary and bonus (no bonus was paid in 2002). At present there is no
Company pension plan except for G. Jay Hambro as disclosed in Note 5.

Service contracts
No Directors have any service contracts, consultancy agreements or
other such arrangements with a notice period in excess of one year.

Supplier payment policy
It is Group policy to agree and clearly communicate the terms of payment
as part of the commercial arrangement negotiated with suppliers and then
to pay according to those terms based upon receipt of an accurate invoice.
Trade Creditor days for the year ended 31 December 2003 were 62 days on
average for the Group and 16 days on average for the Company.

Employees
Regular meetings are held with employee representatives to discuss strategies
and the financial position of the Group and their own business unit.

The Group is committed to provide equal opportunity for individuals 
in all aspects of employment.

Auditors
The Company’s auditors, Moore Stephens, are willing to continue in office.
A resolution for their re-appointment and authorising the Directors to fix
their remuneration will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Philip W. Leatham 
Company Secretary
15 April 2004
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Statement of the Directors’ Responsibilities
for the year ended 31 December 2003

United Kingdom Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of
the Company and the Group for that period. In preparing those financial
statements, the Directors are required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
• State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for the
system of internal control, for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

Peter C.P. Hambro Pavel A. Maslovsky 
Director Director 
15 April 2004 15 April 2004
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Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders of Peter Hambro Mining plc

We have audited the financial statements of Peter Hambro Mining plc
for the year ended 31 December 2003, set out on pages 29 to 67. These
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, and the accounting policies set out on pages 36 to 40.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As described in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities the
Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and United Kingdom
Auditing Standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements 
give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the
Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements, if
the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration 
and transactions with the Company and other members of the Group 
is not disclosed.

We read the Directors’ Report and the other information contained 
in the annual report as set out on pages 1 to 20 and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements within it.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing
Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment 
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December
2003 and of the Group’s cash flows and profit for the year then ended
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985.

Moore Stephens
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
St Paul’s House 
Warwick Lane
London EC4P 4BN
15 April 2004
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Turnover: Group and share of joint ventures 2 54,260 22,774
Less: share of joint ventures’ turnover (10,605) –

Group turnover 43,655 22,774
Net operating expenses 3 (29,860) (12,312)

Operating profit 4 13,795 10,462
Profit on disposals of discontinued operations 13 930 –
Share of operating profit in joint ventures 3,690 –
Amortisation of goodwill in joint ventures 32 (391) –

Profit on ordinary activities before interest and other income 18,024 10,462
Interest payable and similar charges 6 (2,536) (1,640)
Other income 7 769 613

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Group 13,082 9,435
Joint ventures 3,175 –

16,257 9,435
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 8 (5,270) (639)
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation

Group 8,738 8,796
Joint ventures 2,249 –

10,987 8,796
Minority interests

Group 26 (193) (3,692)
Joint ventures (411) –

Profit retained for the year 25 10,383 5,104

Earnings per ordinary share 33 $0.18 $0.16
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 33 $0.17 $0.15

The entire Group’s turnover for the year and the previous period have been generated by the Company’s subsidiary Pokrovskiy Rudnik.

The business of the Group is conducted mainly within one business segment and in one geographic location; consequently no segmental analysis 
is presented (details of other businesses are disclosed in note 7).

There are no recognised gains or losses other than those included in the profit and loss account.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this profit and loss account.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Fixed Assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill 9 – 17,790
Other intangible assets 10 71,173 3,743
Capitalised exploration and development expenditure 2,159 1,156

Tangible assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 39,163 45,996

Investments 13 2 637
Investments in joint ventures: 14

Goodwill 2,969 –
Share of gross assets 14,445 –
Share of gross liabilities (8,135) –

Loans 15 2,614 –

124,390 69,322
Current Assets
Stock and work in progress 12 11,355 7,501
Debtors 16 13,621 4,868
Cash at bank and in hand 14,827 1,388

39,803 13,757
Creditors, amounts falling due within one year 17 (42,144) (22,726)

Net Current Liabilities (2,341) (8,969)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 122,049 60,353
Creditors, amounts falling due after one year
Due to former shareholders of subsidiary 19 (3,284) (3,043)
Long-term borrowings 21 – (7,578)
Finance lease liabilities falling due after one year 20 (895) (1,121)

(4,179) (11,742)
Provision for liabilities and charges 18 (1,504) –

Net Assets 116,366 48,611
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Consolidated Balance Sheet continued
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Capital and Reserves
Share capital – ordinary shares 22 1,010 751
Share premium 23 85,252 34,636
Merger reserve 8,755 8,755
Contingent reserve on acquisition 24 6,304 –
Share incentive reserve 22 40 40
Profit and loss account 14,272 3,889

Equity shareholders’ funds 25 115,633 48,071
Minority interests 26 733 540

116,366 48,611

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.

These financial statements were approved by the Directors on 15 April 2004.

Peter C.P. Hambro Pavel A. Maslovsky
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Company only Balance Sheet
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Fixed Assets
Tangible assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 179 –
Investments 13 77,684 32,758
Loans 15 2,614 –

80,477 32,758
Current Assets
Debtors 16 11,907 1,140
Cash at bank and in hand 9,385 877

21,292 2,017
Creditors, amounts falling due within one year 17 (12,938) (679)

Net Current Assets 8,354 1,338

Net Assets 88,831 34,096

Capital and Reserves
Share capital 22 1,010 751
Share premium 23 85,252 34,636
Contingent reserve on acquisition 24 6,304 –
Profit and loss account (3,735) (1,291)

Equity shareholders’ funds 25 88,831 34,096

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.

These financial statements were approved by the Directors on 15 April 2004.

Peter C.P. Hambro Pavel A. Maslovsky
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 28, 29 11,785 6,890
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 463 21
Interest paid (3,721) (948)
Interest element of finance leases (301) (235)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (140) –

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (3,699) (1,162)
Taxation Paid (3,264) –
Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment
Purchase of tangible assets (8,539) (11,665)
Purchase of intangible assets (2,144) (1,152)
Investments acquired (3,736) (629)
Proceeds on sales of investments 4,562 –
Proceeds on disposal of tangible assets – 16
Loans issued (3,804) (76)
Loans issued to joint venture undertakings (340) –

Net cash outflow on capital expenditure and financial investment (14,001) (13,506)
Acquisitions and Disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (6,002) (8)
Cash acquired with subsidiaries 179 –
Sales of subsidiary undertakings (22) –
Investments in joint ventures (3,623) –

Net cash outflow on acquisitions and disposals (9,468) (8)

Cash outflow before Financing (18,647) (7,786)
Financing Activities
Capital element of finance leases (1,099) (1,344)
Receipts from borrowings 59,254 11,400
Repayments of amounts borrowed (51,728) (4,912)
Net receipts from issuing shares 25,659 2,669

Net cash inflow from financing activities 32,086 7,813

Increase in cash at bank and in hand 30 13,439 27
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow continued
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US $’000s)

Major non-cash transactions
During the year the Group entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of assets with a total capital value at the inception of the leases 
of US$988,313.

An amount of US$124,000 of Russian VAT receivable was set off against Corporate Tax and US$480,000 of Russian VAT receivable was set 
off against royalties payable. During the year US$92,000 of the total of Property tax payable was set off against Corporate Tax.

In June 2003, 6,000,000 shares of the Company were issued and a further 1,500,000 contingent shares were accounted for in exchange for the 
total issued share capital of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this cash flow statement.

PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 200334



Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt (Note 31)
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (expressed in US$’000s)

2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000

Increase in cash at bank and in hand 13,439 27
Cash (inflow) from (increase) in debt and lease financing (6,427) (5,144)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flow 7,012 (5,117)
Loans disposed with subsidiary 309 –
New finance leases (988) (2,767)
Exchange difference (647) 928

Movement in net debt in the period 5,686 (6,956)
Net debt at 1 January 31 (24,161) (17,205)

Net debt at 31 December 31 (18,475) (24,161)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2003

1. Principal accounting policies
The Company was incorporated on 20 December 2001, under the name Excelsior Corporation plc as part of a planned reorganisation of an existing group
headed by Peter Hambro Mining Limited. Subsequent to the formation of the Company, Peter Hambro Mining Limited was renamed Eponymousco Ltd
(‘Eponymousco’) and the Company was renamed Peter Hambro Mining plc. On 17 April 2002, the Company acquired the whole of the issued share
capital of Eponymousco and on 29 April 2002 obtained admission to the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange (‘AIM’). These
events are considered to be a reorganisation of a continuing business.

a) Principles of consolidation 
The Company has two 100% subsidiaries: Eponymousco and Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd (formerly Plastor Trading Limited). Plastor
Trading Limited was acquired on 12 June 2003. The results and balances of Eponymousco have been consolidated in these financial statements.
Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd acts as a holding company for 100% of the share capital of OOO Tokurskiy Rudnik (‘Tokurskiy Rudnik’).
The results from acquisition and balances of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd and Tokurskiy Rudnik have been consolidated in these financial
statements. The Company also has one joint venture: ZAO Omchak (50%), a joint venture incorporated in Russia, which has been consolidated 
in these accounts using the gross equity method.

Eponymousco has one subsidiary, OAO Pokrovskiy Rudnik formerly JSC Pokrovskiy (‘Pokrovskiy Rudnik’), a company incorporated in Russia.
At 31 December 2003 Eponymousco owned 53.11% of Pokrovskiy Rudnik and a further 44.7% of the share capital is held by the Company.
Pokrovskiy Rudnik has been consolidated in these financial statements.

Pokrovskiy Rudnik had two Russian incorporated subsidiaries, which were disposed of on 30 December 2003: OOO Olekminskiy Rudnik (‘Olekminskiy
Rudnik’) (51%), and OOO Chemelt (‘Chemelt’) (100%), both of which have been consolidated in these accounts up to the date of sale. Olekminskiy
Rudnik is involved in exploring for titanium deposits and Chemelt is involved in trading titanium dioxide and titanium dioxide based products as a
preparatory step for the Olekminskiy Project. Pokrovskiy Rudnik also has one joint venture: ZAO Rudnoye (50%), a joint venture incorporated in
Russia, which has been consolidated in these accounts using the gross equity method.

The results and balances of Chemelt were excluded from consolidation in the previous period on the grounds that they were not material to the
Group. Chemelt has been consolidated in the current period up to the date of sale on the basis that current results and balances are material.

b) Acquisitions 
On the acquisition of a business, including an interest in a subsidiary undertaking, fair values are attributed to the Group’s share of net separable
assets. Where the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair values attributable to such net assets, the difference is treated as purchased goodwill and
capitalised in the balance sheet in the year of acquisition.

c) Comparative figures 
Certain comparative figures have been restated to be consistent with the current year’s presentation.

d) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK Accounting Standards.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued
e) Currency of financial statements
The financial statements have been presented in US Dollars as the Dollar is considered to be the Group’s functional currency.

For the purpose of these financial statements other currencies have been translated into US Dollars on the following basis:
(i) Share capital, fixed assets and depreciation at the rate ruling on the date of the relevant transaction.
(ii) Liabilities and current assets at the rate ruling at the end of the accounting year.
(iii) Profit and loss account items, other than depreciation, at the average rate for the year or at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction 

for significant items.

The accounting records of the Company’s Russian subsidiary and joint venture undertakings are maintained in Russian Roubles. All transactions are
translated into US Dollars at the average annual exchange rate and monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated into US Dollars at the current rate
at each balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

The rates of exchange used to translate year end balances from other currencies into US Dollars were as follows (currency per US Dollar):

2003 2002

Sterling 0.56 0.62
Russian Rouble 29.45 31.78

Exchange differences arising on the application of the above policy to individual transactions and accounts have been dealt with through the profit
and loss account. The representation of figures in US Dollars should not be construed as meaning that underlying amounts can or will be settled 
in Dollars.

f) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration given for the purchase of a subsidiary over the book value of net assets acquired.
Amortisation is provided through the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period deemed appropriate by the Directors.

Negative goodwill is accounted for when the fair value of net assets acquired on the purchase of a business exceeds the purchase price. Negative
goodwill is initially recorded as a negative asset and then recognised through the profit and loss account.

g) Intangible assets and amortisation
Intangible assets are recorded at cost less amortisation and provision for diminution in value. Licences for the exploitation of natural resources 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the licence.

PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 200337



Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2003

1. Principal accounting policies continued
h) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated 
to write off the cost or valuation of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life or the life of the relevant licence, whichever is 
less, as follows:

Average life

Buildings 20
Plant and machinery 10-20
Office equipment 5-10
Computer equipment 3

Until they are brought into use, fixed assets are included within assets under construction and equipment to be installed.

The cost of maintenance, repairs and replacement of minor items of tangible fixed assets are charged to current expenditure. Renewals and betterments are
capitalised. Upon sale or retirement of tangible fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts. Any resulting
gains or losses are included in the profit and loss account.

i) Investments
Investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment.

j) Stock and work in progress
Purchased stores and spares are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a unit cost basis. Gold ready for sale is valued at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Costs are attributed to gold produced on an average cost basis. Bullion in process is valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Poor ore (with content less than 3.5 g/t), ore in the process of leaching and leached ore are classified as work in progress. Poor ore and ore in the
process of leaching are valued at the lower of attributable direct cost and net realisable value.

Leached ore is valued at the lower of post processing transportation costs (to its current location) and net realisable value. Leached ore is classified 
as work in progress.

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase to remove additional waste ore are deferred and charged to operating cost when ore is moved
from stock piles.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued
k) Finance and operating leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised in the balance sheet and are depreciated over the shorter of the period of the lease and the estimated
useful economic lives of the assets. Interest is charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the agreement and represents a constant proportion
of capital repayments outstanding.

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account as incurred.

l) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at the point of transfer of ownership of finished products as specified in the sales contracts.

m) Cost of sales 
Cost of sales includes the cost of mining gold, transport and other direct expenses.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred except in respect of deposits where:
• it is expected that the expenditure will be recouped by future exploitation or sale; or
• substantial exploration and evaluation activities have identified a mineral resource but these activities have not reached a stage which permits 

a reasonable assessment of the existence of commercially exploitable reserves.

Where either of the above conditions are met direct expenditure is capitalised. Once production begins capitalised costs are written off to production
so as to spread them over total estimated reserves.

n) Taxation
Provision is made for all foreseeable taxation liabilities.

Deferred taxation is calculated so as to recognise the expected future tax consequences of transactions and events recognised in the financial
statements of the current and previous periods with the following exceptions:
• provision is made for the tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries only to the extent that at the balance

sheet date dividends have been declared and accrued as receivables;
• deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be taxable profit from

which the future reversal of the timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse,
based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

The tax charge in the profit and loss account includes the charge in respect of the taxable profit for the year calculated under UK taxation laws and
foreign profit tax. All other taxes, including those based on gross revenue received, are included in general, administrative and other operating costs 
in the profit and loss account.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued
o) Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group has become party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

p) Environment protection, rehabilitation and closure costs
Provision is made for close down, restoration and for environment clean up costs, where there is a legal or constructive obligation to do so. The provision
is reviewed on an annual basis for any changes in cost estimates or lives of operations.

2. Turnover
Group

2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000

Group turnover 43,655 22,774
Share of joint venture Omchak 10,586 –
Share of joint venture Rudnoye 19 –

54,260 22,774

Turnover is derived from the Group’s single principal activity of mining, mineral processing and dealing in metals and concentrates, principally 
gold and silver. All proceeds are receivable in the ordinary course of business and are recorded exclusive of Value Added Tax.

Pokrovskiy Rudnik has generated all of current year turnover for the Group.

3. Net operating expenses
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost of sales 22,060 7,861 520 –
Administrative expenses 7,800 4,451 3,218 1,297

29,860 12,312 3,738 1,297

Included within Group administrative expenses are foreign currency exchange translation gains of US$22,756 (2002 – US$1,008,393) and losses 
on disposal of fixed assets of US$46,463 (2002 – US$100,000).

Pokrovskiy Rudnik accounts for US$20,637,000 of the Group’s cost of sales (2002 – US$7,861,000) and US$4,989,000 of administrative expenses
(2002 – US$ 2,799,000).
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4. Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 11 3,266 3,628 7 –
Amortisation of intangible assets 10 1,958 328 – –
Negative goodwill credit – (298) – –
Goodwill charge – 392 – –
Directors’ emoluments 5 1,622 648 1,489 549
Auditors’ remuneration
– Statutory audit 85 48 85 48
– Audit related regulatory reporting 27 27
– Corporate finance advice 31 31
– Taxation 8 8

Pokrovskiy Rudnik generated US$18m (2002 – US$12.1m) of operating profit. US$635,800 of depreciation on tangible fixed assets arose on assets
held under finance leases (2002 – US$335,115).

5. Directors and employees
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Directors’ emoluments 1,622 648 1,489 549

Staff costs during the period were as follows:
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Wages and salaries – production 3,081 2,644 – –
Wages and salaries – other 1,454 863 380 59
Social security costs 1,471 625 139 31

6,006 4,132 519 90

The average number of employees (excluding seven Directors) of the Group during the year was 1,272 (2002 – 1,218). The Company had six employees
(2002 – four).

The emoluments for the highest paid Director for the year were US$524,523 (2002 – US$257,309).
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5. Directors and employees continued
During 2002 the Group implemented a share incentive scheme. Under the scheme participating employees have subscribed for 2,759,368 C ordinary
non-voting, non dividend bearing shares in Eponymousco at a par value of £0.01. These are to be converted into ordinary shares in the Company 
on the earlier of the disposal of Eponymousco by the Company or 1 June 2005 for a supplementary payment of £1.01. The shares subscribed for 
have been recognised as a reserve until such time as the C shares are converted into ordinary shares (see Note 22).

The Directors’ interests in the share incentive scheme can be found in the Directors’ Report.

During 2002 Pokrovskiy Rudnik established a Reserve Bonus Scheme for senior executives of that company. Under this scheme participants will 
be awarded freely transferable ‘scheme units’ at the end of each year from 2002 to 2012. These will be awarded at the rate of US$5 (in aggregate) 
for each ounce of gold added to the designated reserves for the reserve bonus scheme. Payments may be made in cash or may be applied to subscribe
for new Ordinary Shares in the Company at the prevailing market price. On 25 February 2003 Pokrovskiy Rudnik received independent confirmation,
from Dalgeophysica, of the Group Chief Geologist’s revised estimation that the C2 component of the Reserves and Resources is now 1.78 million
ounces. During 2003 negotiations commenced to amend the scheme and the Directors decided to seek a third party confirmation of the reserves,
while putting a cap on the maximum amount of the liability of US$25 million, which may be settled in new Ordinary Shares.

A defined contribution pension scheme has been implemented for G. Jay Hambro. The scheme is based on the current percentage of net relevant
earnings pertaining to G. Jay Hambro of 17.5% of his stated salary. The total amount payable to the scheme during the year was US$8,678 
(2002 – nil). The outstanding contributions at 31 December 2003 totalled US$nil (2002 – nil).

Pokrovskiy Rudnik contributes through social security payments to an employees’ Russian state pension scheme. This is a defined contribution scheme.
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6. Interest payable and similar charges
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Finance lease charge 301 235 – –
Bank loan interest – continued operations 2,880 4,267 – –
Bank loan interest – discontinued operations 40 – – –
Other loan interest and charges 338 173 8 –
Share of joint ventures’ interest payable and similar charges 124 – – –

3,683 4,675 – –
Less finance cost capitalised (1,147) (3,035) – –

2,536 1,640 8 –

7. Other income
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other income – continuing operations 286 592 1,240 –
Other income net – discontinued operations 31 – – –
Interest receivable 452 21 64 7

769 613 1,304 7

On 30 December 2003, the Group disposed of its interest in the ordinary share capital of Olekminskiy Rudnik and Chemelt. Olekminskiy Rudnik
was involved in exploring for titanium deposits and its operations did not have an impact on the consolidated profit and loss account for 2002 and
2003. Chemelt traded in titanium dioxide based products, total turnover for 2003 was US$2,126,000 (2002 – nil). The result of Chemelt’s operations
before interest and tax is shown under discontinued operations – other income net.
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8. Taxation
The Company does not anticipate a corporation tax charge for the period as all profits/losses arise in its subsidiaries Pokrovskiy Rudnik, Peter Hambro
Mining (Cyprus) Ltd, Tokur and Chemelt (before disposal in December 2003) and the Company itself has suffered losses. Pokrovskiy Rudnik was the
beneficiary of a tax concession that exempted it from Russian profit tax for the year ended 31 December 2001. This concession came to an end in
September 2002. The tax charge for the subsidiary was US$2,922,193 (2002 – US$638,831) for the period ended 31 December 2003, based on the tax
rate of 24%.

The Directors believe that there have been no material breaches of Russian tax regulations and that these financial statements contain all necessary
provisions in respect of the Group’s tax liabilities in Russia. However Russian tax and currency control regulations are in a state of flux and may 
be subject to differing interpretations by various governmental bodies. Fines and penalties for errors and omissions may be significant.

Group
2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits of the period – –
Foreign tax (24%) 2,926 639

Total current tax 2,926 639

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1,418 –

Total deferred tax 1,418 –

Tax related to joint venture Omchak
Profit tax (24%) 794 –
Deferred tax 132 –

926 –

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 5,270 639
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8. Taxation continued
The tax assessed for the year is lower that the standard rate of corporation tax. The differences are explained below:

Group
2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000

Group profit on ordinary activities before tax 13,082 9,435

Add: loss on the Company’s ordinary activities before tax 2,444 1,291

15,526 10,726

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in Russia of 24% (2002 – 24%) 3,726 2,574
Capital allowances for year in excess of depreciation (192) –
Interest capitalised for year (281) –
Indirect costs on stock (821) –
Lease charges (263) –
Exchange difference 557 –
Expenses non deductible for tax purposes 26 –
Tax concession exemption – (1,935)
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous year 174 –

2,926 639

Group
2003 2002

Deferred tax US$’000 US$’000

Fixed assets timing differences 2,276 –
Differences in tax values of stock (112) –
Timing difference on tax on disposal of investments (Note 13) 503 –
Timing differences on lease operations (680) –
Other timing differences (569) –

1,418 –
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9. Goodwill
Group

2003
US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 17,305
Value of Goodwill reclassified to the cost of the licence of Pokrovskiy Rudnik (17,305)

At 31 December 2003 –

Amortisation
At 1 January 2003 (485)
Value of Goodwill reclassified to the cost of the licence of Pokrovskiy Rudnik 485

At 31 December 2003 –

Net book value
At 1 January 2003 17,790

At 31 December 2003 –
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10. Other intangible assets
Group

2003
US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 6,554
Value of Goodwill reclassified to the cost of the licence of Pokrovskiy Rudnik 17,790
Value of certain tangible assets reclassified to the cost of the licence of Pokrovskiy Rudnik 14,178
Additions as a result of acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) 37,420

At 31 December 2003 75,942

Amortisation
At 1 January 2003 2,811
Charge for the year 1,958

At 31 December 2003 4,769

Net book value
At 1 January 2003 3,743

At 31 December 2003 71,173

During the year the Directors carried out a review of the carrying value of tangible assets, intangible assets and goodwill as at 1 January 2003. As a
result of this review the Directors decided that the combined carrying value of these assets was reasonable but that an alternative classification would
be more appropriate. Since the value of goodwill is entirely attributable to Pokrovskiy Rudnik’s licence and the difference between the market values
of certain tangible assets and their book values can also be attributed to ownership of the licence, the carrying value of the licence has been restated
upwards with a corresponding reduction in goodwill and fixed assets.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture,

fixtures,
Mining fittings Construction 

assets Vehicles and others in progress Total
Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 40,397 5,091 496 8,261 54,245
Reclassification to the cost of the licence (19,183) – – – (19,183)
Additions 775 570 431 8,893 10,669
Transfer from construction in progress 12,293 10 279 (12,582) –
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (12) – (12)
Disposals (31) (31) (12) – (74)

At 31 December 2003 34,251 5,640 1,182 4,572 45,645

Depreciation
At 1 January 2003 6,930 1,181 138 – 8,249
Reclassification to the cost of the licence (5,005) – – – (5,005)
Charge for the year 2,291 834 141 – 3,266
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (2) – (2)
Disposal (5) (21) – – (26)

At 31 December 2003 4,211 1,994 277 – 6,482

Net book value
At 31 December 2002 33,467 3,910 358 8,261 45,996

At 31 December 2003 30,040 3,646 905 4,572 39,163

In view of the increase in Reserves and Resources, particularly in respect of the Pioneer deposit, the anticipated life of mining operations has been
extended substantially. Accordingly it was considered appropriate to reassess the remaining economic lives of certain buildings, constructions and
equipment assets and this has been extended from 10 to 20 years from 1 January 2003. The effect of this is a reduction in the depreciation charge 
of US$0.8 million for 2003.

The net book value of the Group’s mining assets includes US$2,096,733 (2002 – US$1,666,455) in respect of assets held under finance leases.
The net book value of the Group’s vehicles includes US$1,443,019 (2002 – US$1,520,794) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

At 31 December 2003 mining assets with a net book value of US$30,862,000 were pledged as security for the long term and short term loans
disclosed in Note 17 and Note 21.

At 31 December 2003, fixed assets were insured to a value of approximately US$8.2 million with Voyenno-Strakhovaya company (Russian registered
insurance company).
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11. Property, plant and equipment continued
Furniture,

fixtures,
fittings 

and others Total
Company US$’000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 – –
Additions 186 186
Disposals – –

At 31 December 2003 186 186

Depreciation
At 1 January 2003 – –
Charge for the year 7 7
Disposal – –

At 31 December 2003 7 7

Net book value
At 31 December 2002 – –

At 31 December 2003 179 179

12. Stock and work in progress
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Stores and spares 2,498 1,258 – –
Work in progress 8,627 5,815 – –
Bullion in process 166 420 – –
Bullion in stock 64 8 – –

11,355 7,501 – –
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12. Stock and work in progress continued
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Work in progress to be completed within one year 2,182 5,815 – –
Work in progress to be completed after more than one year 6,445 – – –

8,627 5,815 – –

Work in progress comprises leached ore, ore in the process of leaching, poor ore and stripping expenses capitalised. Stock piles with a book value 
of US$852,000 are used as collateral against short term loans.

13. Investments
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Chemelt – 8 – –
Baikal Bank – 629 – –
Shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures 2 – 77,684 32,758

2 637 77,684 32,758

The Company and the Group have the following material subsidiaries and other significant investments, which were consolidated in these financial
statements.

Principal Effective 
Country of Principal country of proportion 

Principal subsidiary and joint venture undertakings incorporation activity operation of shares held

Eponymousco Ltd United Kingdom Holding company United Kingdom 100%
Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd Cyprus Holding company Cyprus 100%
Pokrovskiy Rudnik Russia Gold production Russia 97.7%
Joint venture Omchak Russia Gold production Russia 50%
Joint venture Rudnoye Russia Gold production Russia 49%
Tokurskiy Rudnik Russia Gold production Russia 100%

The Company holds 44.57% (2002 – 44.57%) of the Group’s total holding of 97.68% (2002 – 97.68%) of the ordinary share capital of Pokrovskiy Rudnik.
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13. Investments continued
The investments of Pokrovskiy Rudnik at 31 December 2003 were joint venture Rudnoye and a subsidiary undertaking Magadan.

Magadan is registered in Russia and was formed in June 2003. Magadan was set up in order to bid for various gold mining deposits in Russia.
Pokrovskiy Rudnik has a 50% interest in the ordinary share capital of Magadan. Magadan has not been consolidated in the Group accounts 
as the results and balances are not material to the Group.

On 30 December 2003 Pokrovskiy Rudnik disposed of its shareholdings in Olekminskiy Rudnik and Chemelt. The profit on disposal for the Group
was US$939,503. A receivable of US$2.1 million in respect of the disposals was outstanding at 31 December 2003 (Note 27).

The Group’s holding in Baikal Bank was sold to ExpoBank in July 2003 for its original cost.

14. Investments in joint ventures
The Group’s share of the net assets of its joint ventures comprise the following:

Joint venture Joint venture 
Omchak Rudnoye Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Goodwill (Note 32) 2,969 – 2,969
Fixed assets 2,900 644 3,544
Current assets 10,846 55 10,901

Total Gross Assets 16,715 699 17,414

Liabilities due within one year (5,200) (293) (5,493)
Liabilities due after one year or more, including minority interest (2,246) (396) (2,642)

Total Gross Liabilities (7,446) (689) (8,135)

The Omchak joint venture was originally created for the purpose of bidding for a mining licence. As per the Omchak joint venture agreement the
Russian shareholders (Susumanzoloto and Shkolnoye) are required to ensure that their assets contributed to the joint venture generate income
sufficient to declare and pay dividends in the first five years of the joint venture’s operations of not less than US$7,200,000 in aggregate. If the
required level of dividends are not paid the Group’s interest in the joint venture will be increased.

The parties agreed that no dividends will be payable for 2003 and the income retained will be used for future projects and no shares will be transferred
to the Company as a result of this decision.
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15. Loans
Amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loan issued to Aricom Plc 2,614 – 2,614 –

2,614 – 2,614 –

The loan to Aricom Plc bears interest at 8% per annum and is secured against 1,000 issued and fully paid up ordinary shares of Russian Titan
Company Ltd, representing 100% of the share capital.

The loan facility granted to Aricom Plc is up to US$6,000,000 and repayable within five years (Note 27).

16. Debtors
Amounts falling due within one year

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Prepayments 3,077 1,628 181 30
VAT recoverable 4,187 2,443 34 39
Owed by Group undertakings – – 10,156 1,071
Other debtors 4,294 263 1,536 –
Loan to Rudnoye joint venture (Note 32) 340 – – –
Loans issued 1,723 534 – –

13,621 4,868 11,907 1,140

Other debtors include an amount of US$2,111,974 relating to the disposal of subsidiaries and an amount of US$1,031,148 due from Aricom Plc 
in respect of a feasibility study. Other debtors also include US$502,127 in respect of expenses recharged to Aricom Plc and paid in February 2004.
Loans issued include an amount of US$1.3 million to Interomax (Note 27).

US$10,578,000 of debtors are Rouble denominated (2002 – US$4,798,000).

An interest rate analysis of loans issued is set out in Note 35.
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17. Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade creditors 2,180 1,404 – 49
Tax liability 349 639 – 20
Finance lease liabilities (Note 20) 1,112 997 – –
Note payable (Note 32) 8,000 – 8,000 –
Short term loans 11,795 12,380 – –
Short term element of long term loans (Note 21) 11,500 3,474 – –
Due to former shareholders of subsidiary (Note 19) 1,428 1,457 – –
Due to Group undertakings – – 513 –
Due to Omchak joint venture (Note 32) 3,817 – 3,817 –
Other creditors 1,963 2,375 608 610

42,144 22,726 12,938 679

The short-term loans have been made to the Company’s subsidiaries by banks and trading partners. Interest rates are fixed. US$21,196,000 of short-
term loans is US Dollar denominated with a weighted average interest rate of 8.9% (2002 – US$5,600,000, 12.55%). All loans are secured over various
fixed assets and ore stockpiles. Short-term loans denominated in Roubles had a weighted average interest rate of 15% (2002 – 19%).

US$11,860,000 of total creditors are Rouble denominated (2002 – US$20,169,000).

18. Provision for liabilities and charges
2003 2002

Group US$’000 US$’000

Provision for restoration and closing costs 86 –
Deferred tax provision 1,418 –

1,504 –
Provision at 1 January 2003 – –
Charge for restoration cost 86 –
Deferred tax charge in profit and loss account for year 1,418 –

Provision at 31 December 2003 1,504 –
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19. Due to former shareholders of subsidiary
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Short term element 1,428 1,457 – –
Long term element 3,284 3,043 – –

4,712 4,500 – –

The amount due to former shareholders comprises dividends payable by Pokrovskiy Rudnik, of which US$3,284,048 is owed to Pavel A. Maslovsky
and the management of the Pokrovskiy Rudnik.

20. Finance lease liabilities
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Short term element 1,334 1,244 – –
Finance charge allocated to future periods (222) (247) – –

1,112 997 – –

Due between 1-2 years 733 923 – –
Due between 2-3 years 256 322 – –
Finance charge allocated to future periods (94) (124) – –

895 1,121 – –

Total obligation 2,007 2,118 – –
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21. Long-term borrowings
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Due in less than 1 year 11,500 3,474 – –
Due between 1-2 years – 7,578 – –
Due between 2-3 years – – – –

11,500 11,052 – –

Short-term element 17 11,500 3,474 – –
Long-term element – 7,578 – –

11,500 11,052 – –

As at 31 December 2003, the only long term loan outstanding was a loan from Moscow International Bank repayable on 31 December 2004. The loan
bears interest at 8% and is secured on buildings and equipment owned by Pokrovskiy Rudnik. The loan is Dollar denominated.

22. Called up equity share capital
Company

2003 2002
Ordinary shares US$’000 US$’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At the beginning of the period 751 –
Issued in exchange for Eponymousco shares – 391
Issued in exchange for 100% holding in Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd 101 –
Other new issues 158 360

At the end of the year 1,010 751

Number of shares (par value £0.01) No’000 No’000

Authorised 100,000 100,000
Issued at the beginning of the period 47,985 –
Issued in exchange for Eponymousco shares – 24,697
Issued in exchange for 100% holding in Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd 6,000 –
Other new issues 10,014 23,288

At the end of the year 63,999 47,985

PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 200355



Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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22. Called up equity share capital continued
In June 2003 6,000,000 shares in the Company were issued in exchange for the total issued share capital of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd.
A contingent issue of 1,500,000 shares in respect of the acquisition of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd was accounted as a separate contingent
reserve on acquisition.

An additional 417,080 ordinary shares were issued for consideration of £1.30 per share and a further 9,596,919 ordinary shares were issued 
for consideration of £1.75 per share.

As a result of these transactions a share premium of US$50.6m after commission of US$1.6m was created.

During 2002 the Group implemented a share incentive scheme (see Note 5).
Company

2003 2002
Convertible C shares of Eponymousco US$’000 US$’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 40 –
New issues – 40

At the end of the year 40 40

Number of shares (par value £0.01) No’000 No’000

Authorised 2,759 2,759
New issues – 2,759

At the end of the year 2,759 2,759

23. Share premium reserve
Group

2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000

Opening balance 34,636 8,755
Transfer to merger reserve – (8,755)
Issue of share capital 52,256 35,794
Share issue costs incurred in the year (1,640) (1,158)

At the end of the year 85,252 34,636
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24. Contingent reserve on acquisition
Group

2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000

Opening balance – –
Issue of contingent shares 6,304 –

At the end of the year 6,304 –

25. Equity shareholders’ funds 
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Opening balance 48,071 7,931 34,096 –
Issue of share capital 50,875 35,036 50,875 35,387
Issue of contingent shares 6,304 – 6,304 –
Profit/(loss) for the year 10,383 5,104 (2,444) (1,291)

At the end of the year 115,633 48,071 88,831 34,096

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of the Company is not presented as a part of these accounts.

The availability of the Group’s reserves for distribution will be determined, to the extent that they include reserves held in the Russian subsidiary and
joint venture undertakings, by applicable legislation in Russia and in accordance with Pokrovskiy Rudnik’s statutory financial statements. Pokrovskiy
Rudnik’s statutory financial statements are prepared in accordance with Russian accounting regulations. These differ significantly from UK GAAP.
The distributable reserves may therefore differ significantly from the figure shown above.
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26. Minority interests
Group

2003 2002
US$’000 US$’000

At the beginning of the year 540 10,623
Minority interest eliminated on acquisition of additional equity in subsidiary undertakings – (9,275)
Dividends payable – (4,500)
Minority interest in net profit of subsidiary undertakings 193 3,692

At the end of the year 733 540

All minority interests are equity interests.

27. Related party transactions
In 2002 the Company issued shares in exchange for the total issued share capital of Eponymousco, in which Pavel A. Maslovsky owned 95,077
ordinary ‘A’ shares and 144,984 ‘B’ shares and Peter C.P. Hambro owned 80,398 ordinary ‘A’ shares.

The Group had the following related party transactions during the year:
Movement for Amount due Movement for Amount due 

the year from/(due to) the year from/(due to)
2003 2003 2002 2002

Related party Description US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Peter Hambro plc Management and accommodation charge (60) (20) (424) (7)
Aricom Plc Loan facility 2,614 2,614 – –
Aricom Plc Expenses recharged 502 502 – –
Aricom Plc Subsidiaries disposals 2,112 2,112 – –
Aricom Plc Feasibility study 1,031 1,031 – –
Aricom Plc Loan to Interomax 1,293 1,293 – –

Total Aricom Plc 7,552 7,552 – –

Former shareholders of subsidiary Dividends due (241) (3,284) (3,043) (3,043)

Peter Hambro plc is considered a related party due to Peter C.P. Hambro’s 51% holding in that company.
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27. Related party transactions continued
Aricom Plc, is considered a related party due to Peter C. P. Hambro’s and Pavel A. Maslovsky’s shareholdings and directorships in that company.
Transactions with Aricom Plc during the year are disclosed in notes 15 and 16. Additionally the Group has advanced a loan of US$1,292,842 with
interest at 16% to Interomax for the purpose of acquiring a business on behalf of Aricom Plc. A profit of US$939,503 was made on disposals 
of Chemelt and Olekminskiy Rudnik to Aricom Plc.

Creditors include an amount of US$3,284,048 relating to dividends payable to Pavel A. Maslovsky and the management of Pokrovskiy Rudnik.

Peter C. P. Hambro, Pavel A. Maslovsky and certain management of Pokrovskiy Rudnik are the participants of a Reserve Bonus Scheme established
by Pokrovskiy Rudnik. Details of the scheme are detailed in Note 5.

An ultimate controlling party of the Company has not been identified.

28. Net cash inflow from operating activities
2003 2002

Group US$’000 US$’000

Cash received from customers 43,573 22,774
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (20,564) (11,186)
Other proceeds 59 591
Other expenses (11,283) (5,289)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 11,785 6,890
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29. Reconciliation of operating result to operating cash flow
2003 2002

Group US$’000 US$’000

Operating profit before tax and minority interest 13,082 9,435
Adjusted for:
Depreciation 3,266 3,628
Amortisation of intangibles 1,958 328
Interest payable and similar charges 2,412 1,640
Interest receivable (516) –
Loss on disposals of fixed assets 46 100
Profit on disposals of trading investments (196) –
Profit on disposals of subsidiary undertakings (930) –
Exchange differences in respect of finance activity 647 (928)
Exchange differences in respect of minority shareholders’ dividends 351 –
Goodwill amortisation – 94

Operating profit before working capital changes 20,120 14,297
(Increase) in debtors (5,198) (1,747)
(Increase) in stock (3,886) (7,180)
Increase in creditors 749 1,520

Net cash inflow from operating activity 11,785 6,890

During 2003 net cash (outflow) in respect of discontinued activities was US$275,000.
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30. Reconciliation of cash flow to net cash
Analysis of balances as shown in the balance sheet and changes during the year.

Group
2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000

Cash at the beginning of the year 1,388 1,361
Cash flows for the year 13,439 27

Cash at the end of the year 14,827 1,388

31. Analysis of net debt
Other

At non-cash Exchange At 
1 Jan. 03 Cash flow Subsidiary changes movement 31 Dec. 03
US$’000 US$’000 disposals US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash in hand and at the bank 1,388 13,439 – – – 14,827
Debt due within one year (15,854) (15,376) 309 – (374) (31,295)
Debt due after one year (7,577) 7,850 – – (273) –
Finance leases (2,118) 1,099 – (988) – (2,007)

Total (24,161) 7,012 309 (988) (647) (18,475)
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32. Acquisition of joint venture and subsidiary undertaking
Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd
In June 2003 the Company acquired 100% of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd (formerly Plastor Trading Ltd). Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus)
Ltd acts as a holding company for 100% of the share capital of Tokurskiy Rudnik.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition were:
PHM (Cyprus) Fair value 

Ltd/Tokur adjustment Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Intangible assets (Note 10) – 37,420 37,420
Capitalised exploration and development expenditure 13 – 13
Stock 2 – 2
Debtors 9 – 9
Cash 179 – 179
Creditors due within one year (104) – (104)

Fair value of net assets acquired 99 37,420 37,519
Goodwill arising on acquisition 37,420 (37,420) –

37,519 – 37,519

Consideration
Cash 6,000 6,000
Issue of shares 25,215 25,215
Contingent issue of shares 6,304 6,304

37,519 – 37,519

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the seller of Peter Hambro Mining (Cyprus) Ltd was required to place an interest free deposit 
of US$8 million with the Company. Repayment of the deposit, which is due in June 2004 is dependent upon the results of further exploration 
work on the Tokur mining deposit.
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32. Acquisition of joint venture and subsidiary undertaking continued
Joint venture Omchak
In August 2003 the Company set up a joint venture gold mining company Omchak with Susumanzoloto and Shkolnoye. The joint venture was
established to participate in a tender for a gold mining licence. The joint venture has two gold mining subsidiaries: Berelekh and Nelkobazoloto,
both companies operate in Magadan region of Russia and were contributed by Susumanzoloto and Shkolnoye to the share capital of Omchak.

The Company is to contribute 50% of the venture’s capital in the form of cash. At 31 December 2003 an amount of US$3,817,074 (Note 17) 
was outstanding to the joint venture in respect of the unpaid proportion of the share capital. The balance was paid on 6 January 2004.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition of the joint venture Omchak were:
Subsidiary of Subsidiary of

Joint Omchak – Omchak –
venture Berelekh Nelkobazoloto Total

Omchak US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Tangible fixed assets – 1,214 2,470 3,684
Stock – 666 1,114 1,780
Due from Peter Hambro Mining plc 7,407 – – 7,407
Debtors – 2,335 2,431 4,766
Cash – 1,268 395 1,663
Creditors due within one year – (3,567) (3,473) (7,040)
Creditors due after one year – – (3,637) (3,637)
Provision – deferred tax – (123) (89) (212)

Fair value of net assets acquired 7,407 1,793 (789) 8,411
Less: Minority interest – (394) 77 (317)
Goodwill arising on acquisition – 3,416 3,304 6,720

7,407 4,815 2,592 14,814

Consideration
Cash payable by Peter Hambro Mining plc 7,407 – – 7,407
Susumanzoloto contribution to the share capital of joint venture Omchak – 4,815 – 4,815
Shkolnoye contribution to the share capital of joint venture Omchak – – 2,592 2,592

7,407 4,815 2,592 14,814

Goodwill arising on acquisition as above 6,720

Group share (50%) 3,360
Less: goodwill amortisation for the period (391)

Goodwill as at 31 December 2003 (Note 14) 2,969
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32. Acquisition of joint venture and subsidiary undertaking continued
Joint venture Rudnoye
In August 2003 Pokrovskiy Rudnik set up a joint venture gold mining company Rudnoye with Soloviovskiy Rudnik. Pokrovskiy Rudnik owns 50% of
the issued share capital. The only operating asset of the joint venture is Nadezhda gold mining company, which was acquired on 28 November 2003.
Rudnoye’s operations are based in the Amur Region. At 31 December 2003 Pokrovskiy Rudnik had a loan outstanding to the joint venture of
US$339,637 (Note 16).

33. Earnings per ordinary share
2003 2002

Profit for the year US$’000 10,383 5,104
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 58,767,529 32,179,859
Earnings per ordinary share $0.18 $0.16

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 58,767,529 32,179,859
C shares 2,759,368 1,839,579
Contingent shares (1,500,000*195/364) 803,571 –

Weighted average number of diluted shares 62,330,468 34,019,438

Diluted earnings per share $0.17 $0.15

34. Currency and commodity price risk
Although the Group is headquartered in the United Kingdom, Sterling denominated monetary assets and liabilities at 31 December 2003 were 
not significant.

Because of the location of its operating activities in Russia, Pokrovskiy Rudnik and other Russian subsidiary and joint venture undertakings are
necessarily involved in Russian Rouble transactions and have Rouble denominated balances. The Group incurs operating costs in Roubles and 
the Group’s borrowings at 31 December 2003 were largely denominated in US Dollars.

The world market for gold is principally denominated in US Dollars. Within Russia sales prices are set with reference to the US Dollar but
settlements are made in Roubles.

Recent trends in the Rouble/Dollar exchange rate suggest that the Rouble is gaining value against the Dollar. If this trend continues and results in any
significant and sustained appreciation of the Rouble against the Dollar, the Group’s revenue and profitability could be affected. The Company does
not engage in hedging to minimise exchange rate risk and has no intention of implementing such a scheme unless future financing arrangements
require the Company to do so.

The Group does not hedge its exposure to gold price fluctuation risk. Gold is sold at market spot rates.

PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 200364



Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2003

35. Financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile for Group’s borrowings was:

2003 2002
Fixed rate Interest Fixed rate Interest 
borrowing free Total borrowing free Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

US Dollar 21,196 8,000 29,196 5,600 – 5,600
Rouble 2,037 62 2,099 17,832 – 17,832
Capital element of finance lease, US Dollar 2,007 – 2,007 2,118 – 2,118

25,240 8,062 33,302 25,550 – 25,550

The weighted average interest rate on the Group’s interest bearing borrowings for 2003 was:

US Dollar 8.9%
Rouble 15.0%
US Dollar finance lease 15.0%

The interest rate profile for Group’s financial assets was:
2003 2002

Fixed Floating Interest Fixed Floating Interest 
rate rate free Total rate rate free Total

Cash – US Dollar, Rouble and GBP – 1,443 13,384 14,827 – 163 1,225 1,388
US Dollar 3,907 – – 3,907 – – – –
Rouble 263 – 507 770 524 – 10 534

4,170 1,443 13,891 19,504 524 163 1,235 1,922

The weighted average rate on the Group’s fixed interest bearing financial assets was 10.9% in 2003.

The fair values and book values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially different.
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36. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 December 2003 the Company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating lease of the office premises as set out below.

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Expiring:
After 5 years 104 – 104 –

104 – 104 –

During the year 2003 an amount of US$31,702 of operating lease has been charged under Administrative expenses.

37. Contingent liabilities
Pokrovskiy Rudnik has issued a guarantee in respect of Chemelt’s obligations to Expobank. The value of the guarantee was US$430,000 
as at 31 December 2003.
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38. Post balance sheet events 
In April 2004 the Company announced the acquisition of 90% of the issued shares of OJSC ‘Yamalzoloto’, a holder of the Novogodnee Manteau
licence. The consideration payable is RuR150 million (approximately US$5 million).

The Company also announced the recent establishment of a joint venture company in the Buryatia region of Russia, OOO Region in which
Pokrovskiy Rudnik owns a 75% interest (approximately US$25,000). Partners in the joint venture are a team of Russian geologists. Further to this
joint venture, the Company is acquiring, from its joint venture partners, a considerable amount of exploration data on the area. Consideration for
this acquisition is expected to be US$5 million and completion is expected shortly. Following completion of the acquisition the Group intends to
assess this data and determine the most promising areas of exploration works to be undertaken by the joint venture.

The above acquisitions have been financed under a new term loan facility with Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG (‘HVB’).

In March 2004 the Company announced that it was successful in the auction of the combined exploration and mining licence over Chagoyansk 
gold property in Amur Region, Russia. Further to the acquisition of the licence the Company signed a heads of agreement covering a joint venture
agreement in respect of Chagoyansk with Rio Tinto, one of the world’s largest mining companies. It is envisaged that if the joint venture progresses
as proposed, Rio Tinto will finance the first US$1.5 million of exploration works which will entitle it to obtain a 51% stake in the proposed joint
venture entity. Thereafter, it is intended that the Company and Rio Tinto will either share project costs on a pro-rata basis, or the Company can
choose not to contribute to further exploration costs in which case Rio Tinto will finance the next US$3.5 million of exploration expenditure, subject
to encouraging results, to increase its interest in the joint venture entity to 65%. In addition, it is intended that the Company will receive a staged
success fee from Rio Tinto totalling US$3.5 million in the event that a mine is commissioned.
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Moscow

China

Amur Region

For more detail see page 2

Japan

Russian Federation

Mongolia

Kazakhstan

Deposit at development/exploration stageMine

PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC is a gold producer, traded on London’s Alternative
Investment Market (AIM) and focused on the mining industry in Russia.

PETER HAMBRO MINING owns the Pokrovskiy operating gold mine; the Pioneer and
Tokur deposits, both at advanced exploration stage; and a substantial portfolio of
other exploration assets, most of which are located in the Amur Region, Russian Far
East. In addition the Group has stakes in a number of joint ventures: Omchak, in the
Magadan Region, with two operating gold mines; Rudnoye, in the Amur Region;
Region, a greenfield joint venture in Buryatia; and Chagoyansk, the Group has  
signed a Letter of Understanding with Rio Tinto.

Russian word endings sometimes cause confusion in place names. For this reason we have used
Pokrovskiy as a description. This term includes Pokrovka, Pokrovskoye and Pokrovskiy.
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PETER HAMBRO MINING PLC

11 Grosvenor Place
Belgravia
London
SW1X 7HH

Tel: +44 20 7201 8900
Fax: +44 20 7201 8901 
Email: contact@peterhambro.com
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